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DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 315" MARCH 2024

The Members
HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited

The Board of Directors of HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited (the
Company/AMIN) has pleasure in presenting the Twenty Second Annual Report and the
Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended (FY) 31st March
2024.

BACKGROUND

AMIN is registered as the Asset Management Company as defined under sub-regulation (2)
of regulation 21 of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996.
The Company is wholly owned subsidiary of HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India)
Private Limited.

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE AND DEVELOPMENTS

The mutual fund industry touched the feat of %50 trillion assets under management (AUM) in
December 2023 and has not looked back since then. The AUM reached %53 .4 ftrillion as on
31 March 2024 from %8.25 trillion as on 31 March 2014, a growth of around 6.5 times in a span
of 10 years. The confidence shown in the Indian markets by the domestic investors and foreign
investors alike helped the industry scale such heights.

The growth in the industry AUM and steady rise in the number of folios indicate that the
industry has been able to navigate through the uncertainties with resilience. The number of
accounts (folios as per mutual fund parlance) stood at 17.8 crore out of which retail folios
accounted for 91.4%. The number of retail folios increased by 22% since March 2023
indicating that the investors have matured over time and steadily increased their trust in mutual
funds.

The growth in AUM and folios have happened not only due to lumpsum investments but also
Systematic Investment Plans (SIPs) which have become the cornerstone for investing in
mutual funds for many Indian investors. As of March 2024, SIP contribution stood at 319,271
crore on a monthly basis as compared to 14,276 crore in March 2023, a growth of 35% year
on year.

During the financial year 2023-2024, the share of individual investors (retail and high net worth
investors) in the overall AUM composition has gone up from 58.1% to 60.5%. At the same
time, the share of institutions and corporates in the overall mutual fund AUM fell from 41.9%
to 39.5%. This can be largely attributed to the participation of Gen-Z and millennial investors
into mutual funds through SIP route.

In case of Portfolio Management Services (PMS), as of the end of March 2024, the total AUM
stood at ¥33.12 trillion. This is an increase of around 19% from %27.79 trillion reported at the
end of March 2023.
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To conclude, the growing AUM along with diverse investor base reflects the growing
confidence of investors in the Indian markets and brings with it a plethora of opportunities for
investors. The inflows across various fund categories coupled with record monthly
contributions to SIPs highlights the robust health of the industry. India has become a preferred
destination for global investors on the back of strong economic growth and along with domestic
investors support and trust, the mutual fund industry is poised for a growth never seen in
yesteryears.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2024 have been prepared in
accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) notified under section 133 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as “the Act”) read with the Companies
(Accounts) Rules, 2014 as amended from time to time. The estimates and judgements relating
to the financial statements are made on a prudent basis, to reflect in a true and fair manner,
the form and substance of transactions and reasonably present the Company’s state of affairs,
profits and cash flows for the year ended 31st March 2024.

The performance of the Company during the FY 2023-24 is summarized below:

(X in millions)

Particulars Standalone
2023-24 2022-23
Total Income 5,113.2 2,205.5
Total Expenses 2,7394 1,820.7
Profit / (Loss) before Tax and exceptional ltem 2,373.8 384.8
Exceptional Items - -
Profit / (Loss) before Tax 2,373.8 384.8
Provision for Tax (including Current, Deferred 442.8 246.6
and MAT)
Profit / (Loss) after Tax 1,931.0 138.2
Other Comprehensive Income (Net of Tax) 2.5 (1.3)
Total Comprehensive Income for the year 1,933.5 136.9
DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend any dividend for the FY 2023-24.

Share Capital

Equity shares
During the FY 2023-24, the total paid up equity share capital of the Company was

3,44,41,50,000 (Rupees Three Hundred Forty-Four Crores Forty-One Lakhs Fifty Thousand
Only) divided into 34,44,15,000 (Thirty-Four Crores Forty-Four lakhs Fifteen Thousand) equity
shares of ¥10 (Rupees Ten Only) each as on 31st March 2024.
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Appropriations

Your Company does not propose to transfer any amount to reserves. An amount of ¥ 1933.5
million is proposed to be retained in the Profit and Loss.

OPERATIONS & OUTLOOK

The mutual fund industry registered a growth of 33% with quarterly average AUM for March
2024 quarter at ¥54.9 ftrillion in comparison to ¥41.1 trillion for quarter ending March 2023.
Your Company’s quarterly average AUM stood at %1.09 trillion and is the 14th largest fund
house in the country. The total AUM of your Company including the mutual fund, offshore
advisory and portfolio management services stood at ¥1.43 trillion as on 31 March 2024.

The number of schemes managed by your Company stood at 43 Funds comprising 14 Equity
Funds, 13 Debt Funds, 6 Hybrid Funds, 4 Index Funds and 7 Fund of Funds. Your Company’s
footprint was spread across 58 cities with 64 locations catering to 59,000+ Mutual Fund
Distributors (MFDs) and established digital platforms. Your Company provided mutual fund
services to more than 2.3 million customers across the country as on 31 March 2024.

The AUM under advisory to offshore funds stood at USD 4.8 billion as on 31 March 2024,
which saw a staggering growth of 100% in comparison to USD 2.4 billion as on 31 March 2023
showing the confidence of global investors in Indian economy and markets.

For the year under consideration, AMIN ran numerous marketing campaigns to educate
investors as well as to promote its funds which facilitated investors in understanding mutual
fund schemes and grow AUM. AMIN strengthened its digital offerings and revamped investor
portal through which it offers investors an efficient platform for investing in AMIN’s schemes
in a fast and smooth manner.

The mutual fund industry saw the pace of new fund launches slow down during the year in
active space due to filling up of categories prescribed as per SEBI categorization circular.
Going forward, AMIN expects the launches to increase in passive, sectoral and thematic
space.

a) HSBC Mutual Fund

During the year, the following schemes were launched by HSBC Mutual Fund

Amount collected in
Sr. Scheme name Date of launch NFO
No (X in millions)
1 HSBC Consumption Fund 10 August 2023 9100.32
HSBC Multi Asset Allocation
2 Fund 8 February 2024 13343.65

As on 31 March 2024 the HSBC Mutual Fund had asset under management (AUM) of %
1,033,886 million under schemes of HSBC Mutual Fund as against the AUM of ¥ 813115.24
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million in the previous year and ¥ 402,259 million under HSBC Mutual Fund advisory mandate
as against ¥ 197926.84 million in the previous year.

b) Portfolio Management Services (PMS)

PMS offers discretionary, non-discretionary and advisory solutions to investors, including
institutional investors (foreign and Indian), insurance companies, pension funds, large
individual investors, welfare trusts, fund of funds among others.

The Company has an AUM of about ¥ 4,231.18 million as on 31 March 2024 as against %
2,371.95 million as on 31 March 2023.

OPPORTUNITIES AND THREATS

A dynamic regulatory and market landscape requires the Company to be agile to spot
opportunities and threats likewise. Your Company is continuously reviewing emerging
issues/risks that can have a detrimental impact on business and is taking appropriate steps,
where required, to mitigate potential impact on the business and protect stakeholders’ interest.

INVESTOR SERVICES

The number of official points of acceptance of transactions of your Company is in 210
locations. In addition to the offices of the Registrar & Transfer agents, your Company has its
own office in 61 locations and Investor Service Centers in 39 locations. Your Company has 2
Toll Free numbers (1800-4190-200/ 1800-200-2434) which can be dialed from anywhere in
India and 1 number i.e., +91 44 39923900 (Investors calling from abroad). The call center
service is being managed by the Registrar and Transfer Agents. HSBC Mutual Fund offers
the online transaction facility through the Company website at
www.assetmanagement.hsbc.co.in.

The number of empaneled distributors is 59,568 as on 31 March 2024 as against 58,027 as
on 31 March 2023. The number of registered investment advisors (RIA) empaneled are 517
as on 31 March 2024. During the year, your Company initiated tie-ups for online distribution
of the HSBC Mutual Fund schemes with several channel partners taking the total number of
such tie-ups to 167 and RIA channel partners to 21.

ANNUAL RETURN

The annual return that would be filed by the Company with the Registrar of Companies in form
MGT-7 can be viewed at the website at www.assetmanagement.hsbc.co.in.

BOARD MEETINGS

During the FY 2023-2024, 5 (Five) meetings of the Board of Directors of the Company were
held on the following dates:
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Date of Board meeting Directors present

17 May 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Dinesh Mittal
Mr. Kailash Kulkarni

10 July 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Dinesh Mittal
Mr. Kailash Kulkarni

27 September 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Dinesh Mittal
Mr. Kailash Kulkarni
Mr. Kapil Seth

Ms. Roopa Varma
30 October 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Kapil Seth

Mr. Kailash Kulkarni
Ms. Roopa Varma
21 February 2024 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Kapil Seth

Mr. Kailash Kulkarni
Ms. Roopa Varma

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE

Your Company is committed to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and demonstrates this
by contributing to the economic and social development of the communities and safeguarding
the environment. Your Company has taken dynamic CSR activities and touched hundreds of
lives.

During the FY 2023-24, your Company supported 2 (two) CSR projects and spent on the below
mentioned projects in order to comply with the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies
Act, 2013 read with the relevant rules made thereunder (including amendments from time to

time).
Organisation Programme Title Amount in ¥ spent in
CSR activities
United Way of Mumbai Mangrove conservation through 3,955,000
waste management
Cancer Patients Aid Supporting cancer patients with 2,155,000
Association financial assistance

As on 31 March 2024, the CSR committee comprises following members:

Sr.No. | Name of the members Designation
1 Dr. Indu Shahani Member
2 Ms. Roopa Varma* Member
3 Mr. Kailash Kulkarni Member

*joined the CSR committee on 19 October 2023
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During the FY 2023-24, the CSR committee was reconstituted twice and one meeting of the
CSR committee was held on 27 September 2023 and it was attended by all the members of
the CSR Committee.

In order to ensure compliance with the applicable provisions of the Companies (Corporate
Social Responsibility Policy) Amendment Rules, 2021 (“the CSR Rules”) dated 22 January
2021, the Company has disclosed the CSR Policy, CSR committee composition and CSR
Projects on the website of the Company.

The Annual Report on CSR activities, as prescribed under Section 135 of the Companies Act,
2013 read with Rule 9 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and Rule 9 of the Companies
(Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Amendment Rules, 2021 is appended to this report
as Annexure A.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors of your Company confirm:

i. that the applicable accounting standards have been followed in the preparation of the
annual accounts and that there are no material departures;

ii. that such accounting policies have been selected and applied consistently and
judgments and estimates made are reasonable and prudent, so as to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2024 and of the profit of the
Company for the year ended on that date;

iii. that proper and sufficient care has been taken for the maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 to
safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities;

iv.  that the annual accounts have been prepared on a ‘going concern’ basis; and

v. that proper systems have been devised to ensure compliance with the provisions of all
applicable laws and that such systems are adequate and operating effectively.

LOANS OR GUARANTEES

The Company has not provided any loans or guarantees under the provisions of section 186
of the Companies Act, 2013.

CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES

All related party transactions that were entered during the financial year were on arm’s length
basis and in the ordinary course of business. Accordingly, the disclosure of related party
transactions as required pursuant to provisions of Section 134(3)(h) of Companies Act 2013
in form AOC 2, prescribed in Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is not
applicable.
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CONSERVATION OF ENERGY TECHNOLOGY ABORPTION, EXPORT & FOREIGN
EARNING AND OUTGO

As the Company is an asset management company to HSBC Mutual Fund and provides
portfolio management services, no reporting in respect of conservation of energy and
technology absorption is required.

During the year, the Company incurred expenditure of INR 203.20 million [Previous year INR
177.77 million] in foreign exchange and earned INR 446.89 million [Previous year INR 401.3
million] in foreign exchange.

DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMAN AT WORKPLACE
(PREVENTION, PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013

The Company has complied with provisions relating to the constitution of Internal Complaints
Committee under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition
and Redressal) Act, 2013.

Your Company is committed to creating and maintaining an atmosphere in which employees
can work together, without fear of sexual harassment, exploitation and intimidation.
Accordingly, your Company has in place a Policy for Prohibition, Prevention, & Redressal of
Sexual Harassment of Women at the Workplace and an Internal Complaints Committee is set
up to redress complaints received regarding sexual harassment. The summary of complains
received during the year is provided below:

Particulars Number of Complaints
Pending at the beginning of the year 0

Received during the year 1

Disposed off during the year 0

Pending at the end of the year 1*

*This was disposed off within the stipulated timelines
RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

HSBC Risk Management Framework (“RMF”) which is under pinned by Group values, outlines
our overall approach to managing risk. It supports our Global Principles and is used throughout
the HSBC Group, including our subsidiaries, countries, global businesses, and functions.
AMIN has adopted HSBC RMF along with the risk management framework of local regulations
to put in place a robust enterprise-wide risk management framework. Risk management is an
integral part of the way we do business. We have detailed risk management procedures to
comply with local regulatory guidelines and internal Group policies. The HSBC Group has
issued internal procedures for each functional/business area, which are required to be
complied comprehensively.

AMIN has adopted a risk management and internal control structure, referred to as the Three
Lines of Defence, to ensure it achieves its commercial aims while meeting regulatory and legal
requirements and its responsibilities to shareholders, customers and staff.
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1st Line: comprises predominantly management of businesses who are accountable and
responsible for their day to day activities and processes, their management of risks arising
and the controls to mitigate those risks.

2" Line: comprises predominantly the governance functions (e.g., Risk team, Compliance
team) whose role is to ensure that the Group meets its risk management and internal control
responsibilities in relation to the risks they are responsible for overseeing.

3" Line: is Global Internal Audit. Global internal audit provides independent assurance to the
Group over the design and operation of HSBC's risk management, governance and internal
control processes.

An experienced risk management team monitors enterprise-wide risks including portfolio risks,
non-financial risks and any exceptions are deliberated in Risk Management Meetings (RMM)
that are held bi-monthly. The scope and remit of the AMIN RMM extends to the entire business
of AMIN including mutual funds and portfolio management services.

AMIN RMM is responsible for setting, within the context of the Group direction, local
regulations, the risk management strategy and appetite, policies and control standards for
AMIN and to monitor their implementation. In this regard, the AMIN RMM will review the
material risks affecting AMIN business and is responsible for the oversight of the risk and
internal control environment in AMIN.

AMIN Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is a member of various AMIN Governance Forums like Front
Office Management Committee, Product Committee, Technology Committee, Pricing &
Valuation Committee and chairs the AMIN RMM.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

To comply with the requirements of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds)
Regulations, 1996 (SEBI) circular dated 27 September 2021 outlining updated Risk
Management Framework for Mutual Funds, the Risk Management Committee (RMC) was
constituted. The RMC reports to the Board of Directors and the Company CRO shall report to
the RMC and attend each meeting.

The RMC was reconstituted 2 (twice) and details of the RMC meeting as at 31 March 2024
are as follows:

Sl. No.| Name of Members Designation
1 Dr. Indu Shahani Member
2 Mr. Kapil Seth* Member
3 Ms. Roopa Varma* Member

*joined the RMC w.e.f 19 October 2023
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During the FY 2023-24, 4 (four) meetings were held.

Date of meeting Members present

17 May 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Dinesh Mittal
Mr. Kailash Kulkarni

10 July 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Dinesh Mittal
Mr. Kailash Kulkarni

30 October 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Kapil Seth
Mr. Roopa Varma

21 February 2024 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Kapil Seth

Mr. Roopa Varma

The scope of the RMC is to provide oversight, governance, recommendations and advice on
all matters related to the risk management framework rolled out in Company under the
aforementioned SEBI circular and is expected to meet quarterly.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Your Company has constituted an Audit Committee of the Board of Directors to comply with
the requirements of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996
(SEBI) circular dated 9 February 2022 (Circular). The role, responsibility, membership and
other terms of reference of the Audit committee are prescribed under the said Circular. During
the FY 2023-24, the Audit Committee was reconstituted twice. The details of the Audit
Committee as at 31 March 2024 are as follows:

SI. No. | Name of Member Designation
1 Dr. Indu Shahani Member
2 Mr. Kapil Seth* Member
3 Ms. Roopa Varma* Member

*joined committee w.e.f 19 October 2023

During the FY 2023-24, 5 (Five) meetings were held.
Date of meeting Members present
17 May 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Dinesh Mittal
Mr. Kailash Kulkarni

10 July 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Dinesh Mittal
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Date of meeting Members present
Mr. Kailash Kulkarni
27 September 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani

Mr. Dinesh Mittal
Mr. Kailash Kulkarni

30 October 2023 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Kapil Seth
Ms. Roopa Varma

21 February 2024 Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Kapil Seth

Ms. Roopa Varma

UNIT HOLDER PROTECTION COMMITTEE

During the financial year 2023-2024 your Company constituted a Unit Holder Protection
Committee (“UHPC”) of the Board of Directors to comply with regulation 25 (24) of SEBI
(Mutual Funds) Regulations 1996. The terms of reference of the UHPC are prescribed under
the said regulations. Your Company constituted UHPC on 25 December 2023.

SI. No.| Name of Member Designation
1 Dr. Indu Shahani Member
2 Mr. Kapil Seth Member

Ms. Roopa Varma Member

During the FY 2023-24, 1 (one) meeting was held.

Date of meeting Members present

21 February 2024 Mr. Kapil Seth
Dr. Indu Shahani
Mr. Kailash Kulkarni

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

As required by SEBI, the Board of Directors of the Company comprises minimum 50%
directors who are not associated in any manner with, the Sponsor of HSBC Mutual Fund
(HMF), i.e. HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India) Private Limited or any of its
subsidiaries or the Trustees of HMF.
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SI. Name of Designation DIN Number of
No. Director Board
Meetings
Held Attended
1 Kailash Kulkarni Whole Time Director and | 07242982 5 5

Chief Executive Officer

Dinesh Mittal# Director (Non- Executive) |00040000

Dr. Indu Shahani | Director (Non- Executive) |00112289

Kapil Seth” Director (Non- Executive) |03596866

gl iwiN
(G201 2RG 0[]
wWlwo|w

Roopa Varma* Director (Non- Executive) |[09779388

*Mr. Ravindran Menon resigned on 30 April 2023

#Mr. Dinesh Mittal resigned on 29 September 2023.

AKapil Seth and Roopa Varma were appointed as Director w.e.f. 20 September 2023, they
were eligible to attend 3 meetings during the year under review.

The Directors place on record their sincere appreciation for the valuable contribution made by
the resigning Directors during their tenure with the Company.

GENERAL MEETING OF MEMBERS

SI. | Type of Date and Place Special resolutions passed
No. | Meeting
(Annual /
Extra-
ordinary)
1 Annual Date — 29/09/2023 Cancellation of unsubscribed
4,36,07,710 equity share capital of the
Place — Registered Company
Office of the Company
2 Extra-Ordinary | Date —22/11/2023 No special resolution passed.

Place — Registered
Office of the Company

3 Extra-Ordinary | Date — 04/03/2024 Adoption of Articles of Association of
the Company

Place — Registered
Office of the Company

DEPOSITS

The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public or employees during the year
under review.
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SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS

During the year, there were no significant and material orders passed by the regulators or
courts or tribunals impacting the going concern status and Company’s operations in future.

However, SEBI had issued a show cause notice dated 4 August 2023 (show cause) to the
Company & the Board of Trustees of HSBC Mutual Fund, alleging violation of certain
provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996. Your
Company and Board of Trustees have settled the matter with SEBI under SEBI (Settlement
Proceedings) Regulations, 2018, and SEBI vide its settlement order dated 27 May 2024 has
disposed of the adjudication proceedings initiated vide show cause.

AUDITORS

Pursuant to section 139 and 141 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Companies (Audit &
Auditors) Rules, 2014, M/s. Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP (Firm Registration
No. F012754N/N500016) (PWC), Mumbai, had been re-appointed as Auditors of the
Company at the 18" Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 22 September, 2020, for a period
of five consecutive years i.e. for the 2" term of 5 years commencing from conclusion of 18™
AGM to the conclusion of 23" AGM.

Pursuant to section 139 and 141 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Companies (Audit &
Auditors) Rules, 2014, PWC had confirmed that their appointment is in accordance with the
Section 139 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made thereunder and that they are
not disqualified in terms of section 141 of the Companies Act, 2013.

COST RECORDS

As your Company is not a manufacturing company, the cost records are not required to be
maintained as required under Companies Act, 2013.

VALUATION

During the FY 2023-24, your Company was not required to undertake any valuation of the
Company.

SECRETARIAL STANDARDS
Your Company has complied with all the applicable Secretarial Standards.
CORPORATE PHILOSOPHY AND COMPLIANCE

The Company firmly believes that strong corporate governance and compliance practices are
of paramount importance to maintain the trust and confidence of its stakeholders and the
reputation of the Company. To ensure transparency, fairness and objectivity in the
organisation’s functioning and unquestioned integrity of all personnel involved, the Company
has proactively adopted best practices with regard to corporate governance and compliance.
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ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS WITH RESPECT TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board has adopted the policies and procedures for ensuring the orderly and efficient
conduct of its business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of
its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness
of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of the reliable financial disclosures. This
framework provides adequate financial controls with reference to financial statements
commensurate with the business and operations of the Company. During the year, there was
no adverse observations received from Statutory or Internal auditors of the Company for
inadequacy of such controls.

COMMENTS ON AUDITOR’S REPORT
There are no qualifications, reservations or adverse remarks made by PWC in their report.
FRAUDS REPORTED BY AUDITORS

The Auditors have not reported any offence of fraud which is being or has been committed in
your Company by its officers or employees to the Board of Directors or an Audit Committee
as required under section 143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013.

INTERNAL AUDIT

As required under the Companies Act, 2013, every private limited company with outstanding
loans or borrowings from banks or public financial institutions exceeding X 1,000 million or every
listed company and other specified class of companies (which includes any private company
with turnover over ¥ 200 crore or more during the preceding financial year) are required to
appoint an internal auditor or a firm of internal auditors, who shall either be a chartered
accountant or a cost accountant, or such other professional as may be decided by the Board.
Your Company appointed M/s M.P. Chitale, Chartered Accountants as internal auditors of the
Company for the FY 2023-24.

MATERIAL CHANGES COMMITMENTS

The Company had filed petition along with the scheme of merger with Hon’ble National
Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai (NCLT) on 9 December 2022 for the merger of the HSBC
Consultancy Services (India) Limited (formerly known as L&T Investment Management
Limited) (“LTIM”), wholly owned subsidiary of the Company under Section 230-232 of the
Companies Act, 2013. The NCLT passed the final Order for the merger and effective 16
October 2023, LTIM was merged with your Company.

CHANGE IN THE NATURE OF BUSINESS

During the FY 2023-24, there has been no change in the nature of the business of your
Company.
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VIGIL MECHANISM

Your Company had voluntarily adopted a vigil mechanism for its employees to report their
genuine concerns or grievances which is as per HSBC Group Policy.

INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND (IEPF)

Your Company was not required to make any transfer of dividend or shares to IEPF for the
FY 2023-24.

HUMAN RESOURCES

Your Company recognizes people as its most valuable asset and it has built an open and
transparent culture to nurture this asset. Your Company had 432 permanent employees as on
31 March 2024.

NAMES OF COMPANIES WHICH HAVE BECOME OR CEASED TO BE ITS
SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES OR ASSOCIATE COMPANIES DURING THE YEAR

During the year under review, HSBC Consultancy Services (India) Limited (formerly known as
L&T Investment Management Limited), wholly owned subsidiary of the Company merged with
your Company w.e.f 16 October 2023. No other Companies have become or ceased to be its
subsidiaries, joint ventures or associate companies during the FY 2023-24.

INSOLVENCY AND BANKRUPTCY CODE ORDERS

There was no application made or order passed against the Company under Insolvency and
Bankruptcy Code, 2016 (31 of 2016).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Your Company maintained cordial relationships with regulatory authorities, financial
institutions, banks and investors during the year under review. Your Directors are grateful for
the support extended by them and look forward to receiving their continued support and
encouragement Your Directors would also like to take this opportunity to express their
appreciation for the hard work and dedicated efforts put in by the employees and look forward
to their continued contribution

By authority of the Board of Directors

Sd/- Sd/-

Dr. Indu Shahani Kailash Kulkarni

Director Whole Time Director & Chief Executive Officer
DIN - 00112289 DIN - 07242982

Place: Mumbai
Date: 8 July 2024
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ANNEXURE - A
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY POLICY

HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited (AMIN) is committed to Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) and demonstrates this by contributing to the economic and social
development of the communities and safeguarding the environment. While these two
components are universal and will be at the centre of most sustainability initiatives, there are
various components which make up this huge canvas. AMIN’s community investments are
focused on two core themes:

1. Promoting Education
2. Environmental Sustainability

Within Promoting Education our focus is particularly on:
o Disadvantaged young people particularly at primary and secondary education levels
e Employment-enhancing vocational skills
e Livelihoods enhancement projects
e Empowering women
e Language and cultural understanding
Within the Environmental Sustainability our focus is particularly on:
e Freshwater sustainability
Access to safe water
Water and sanitation
Climate change
Conservation of terrestrial biodiversity and habitats (e.g. forests, ecological balance,
protection of flora and fauna)

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

Selection of Beneficiary Projects and Organisations

The Board of Directors of AMIN (Board) are responsible for the development and funding of
programmes/projects/activities that support communities in which they operate and are in
adherence to the provisions of the Companies Act and the CSR Rules there under.

AMIN will undertake such CSR programmes/projects/activities as recommended by the CSR
Committee and approved by the Board. The Board should approve the following:

1. Annual budget for CSR activities

2. List of CSR activities, modalities of execution and implementation schedules

3. Monitoring process of such CSR activities

The Board will ensure that any unspent/unutilised CSR budget of a particular year will not form
part of the business profit.
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The Board will ensure programme/project/activity selection is made after a sensible
assessment of the prospective beneficiaries' standing, that potential risks have been identified
and the relationship is aligned with the AMIN’s CSR focus.

Community investments should bring a lasting benefit to local communities, motivate staff
through opportunities for direct voluntary involvement and focus primarily on promoting
education or environmental sustainability.

While supporting Environmental Sustainability, environmental initiatives can be aligned to
HSBC Group's flagship programmes (e.g. The HSBC Water Programme).

The CSR Committee will adhere to the due diligence guidelines (as approved by the Board)
and undertake due diligence appropriate to the size and nature of the proposed relationship
when electing to partner with an NGO. Due consideration will also be given to whether it is
appropriate to formalise the prospective arrangement in documentation (i.e. Memorandum of
Understanding).

All CSR projects should:

o Reflect the key themes of educational and environmental support

e Have clear objectives and measurable impact

e Bring a lasting benefit to the community

e Be capable of evidencing HSBC's commitment to the community

o Allow for staff engagement through volunteering where possible or appropriate

Community investments should normally avoid the following:

e Sponsorship of individuals

o Organisations that serve a limited or restricted membership (e.g. clubs, unions, etc.)

e Sporting events or sports teams

o Organisations that primarily or largely exist to develop the furtherance of faith-based
issues

o Payments of salaries. Where large, long-term community investments are made it is
accepted that part of the support may cover the costs of staff, but this should not
normally be the primary reason, nor form a major part of the community investment

e Construction of buildings

e Purchase of land or property

e Zoological parks should not normally receive funding for captive conservation projects.
However, they may be considered where the activity undertaken is primarily
educational in nature

e The endowment of university chairs or development programmes

Governance of community investments and disbursement of funds
AMIN will establish appropriate, transparent mechanisms for the management of community
investments. The following process will be followed for making a community investment:

o Check request for funding against AMIN's focus area

e Conduct Due Diligence (as per format approved by the Board)

e Request for Proposal (as per format approved by the Board)

e Evaluate Proposal
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e Maker—Checker process

e Submit Recommendations to the Board for approval

e On approval disburse the amount to the partner organisation

e Make field visits (as per schedule approved by the Board)

To ensure that decisions over the disbursement of community investment funding are subject
to appropriate management control, to facilitate consistency with the objectives of the business
as a whole, compliance with appropriate tax and other legal and regulatory obligations,
including the UK Bribery Act 2010, and ensure relevance to genuine community needs. All
disbursements should be through members of the CSR Committee or such other person
authorized by the Board, who have read and understood the policy.

Avoiding conflict of interest

Potential conflict of interest that may arise when a member of the Board or the CSR Committee
or CSR Function has a direct interest in a not-for-profit organisation in question must be
avoided. Such conflict of interest should be avoided by a declaration of interest by the
concerned individual to the Board.

Where HSBC executives join the Board of a not-for-profit organisation to improve the
governance and oversight over its activities, they should absent themselves from any decision
to fund the organisation.

Requests made by customers to provide fund support to not-for-profits should be refused.
Similarly, community investments should not be made in order to maintain or enhance any
customer relationship.

Monitoring and reporting

The CSR Committee is responsible for gathering information on the social and environmental
impact of programmes and projects undertaken. 'Output' and 'Impact’ measures will be
monitored for all major programmes and projects. The CSR Committee will ensure that the
non-profit partners monitor and report on the outputs and impacts of their projects. Projects
will be monitored through: half yearly progress reports, annual reports along with fund
utilisation reports (as per format approved by the Board) and field visits of
programmes/projects.

The Board will ensure that all activities are reported at the end of each financial year as
required under provision of the Act.

HSBC employee engagement

Engaging employees in community investment programmes is an opportunity to ensure that
our investments are maximised, that HSBC staff are present to monitor progress, and to see
that funds contributed are used for the purpose for which they have been given.

Each global business and function should offer a minimum of one-day paid employee
volunteer leave per year and establish policies and programmes which guide and support
employees wishing to contribute to projects in their local community.
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General

In case of any doubt with regard to any provision of the CSR Policy and also in respect of
matters not covered herein, a reference should be made to the Board. In all such matters, the
interpretation and decision of the Board will be final.

Any or all provisions of the CSR Policy will be subject to revision/amendment in accordance
with the guidelines on the subject as may be issued from Government, from time to time.

The Board reserves the right to modify, cancel, add or amend the CSR Policy.
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ANNUAL REPORT ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2023-24

1) Brief outline on CSR Policy of the Company.

The Company is committed to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and demonstrates this by contributing to the economic and
social development of the communities and safeguarding the environment. While these two components are universal and will be
at the center of most sustainability initiatives, there are various components which make up this huge canvas. The Company’s
community investments (Cl) are focused on two core themes:

1. Promoting Education
2. Environmental Sustainability

Within Promoting Education focus is particularly on:

— Disadvantaged young people particularly at primary and secondary education levels
— Employment enhancing vocational skills

— Livelihoods enhancement projects

— Empowering women

— Language and cultural understanding

Within the Environmental Sustainability focus is particularly on:

— Freshwater sustainability

— Access to safe water

— Water and sanitation

— Climate change

— Conservation of terrestrial biodiversity and habitats (e.g. forests) (ecological balance, protection of flora and fauna)
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2) Composition of CSR Committee:
SI. | Name of Director Designation / Nature Number of meetings of CSR | Number of meetings of CSR
No. of Directorship Committee held during the Committee attended during the year
year
1 | Dr. Indu Shahani Director 1 1
2 | Kailash Kulkarni Whole Time Director & 1 1
Chief Executive Officer
3 | Roopa Varma Director 1 0
3) Provide the web-link where Composition of CSR committee, CSR Policy and CSR projects approved by the board
are disclosed on the website of the company - https://www.assetmanagement.hsbc.co.in/en/mutual-funds/about-
us/corporate-social-responsibility-policy
4) Provide the executive summary along with web-link(s) of Impact Assessment of CSR Projects carried out in
pursuance of sub-rule (3) of rule 8, if applicable — Not Applicable
5) (a) Average net profit of the company as per section 135(5) - % 305,169,672

(b) Two percent of average net profit of the company as per section - 6,103,393

135(5)
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(c) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or - Nil
activities of the previous financial years.

(d) Amount required to be set off for the financial year, if any - Nil

(e) Total CSR obligation for the financial year [(b)+(c)-(d)]

- 6,103,393

6) (a) Amount spent on CSR Projects (beth-Ongoing-Preject-and other than Ongoing Project)

(b) Amount spent in Administrative Overheads

(c) Amount spent on Impact Assessment, if applicable

(d) Total amount spent for the Financial Year [(a)+(b)+(c)]

(e) CSR amount spent or unspent for the Financial Year

6,110,000
Nil
Nil

6,110,000

Total Amount
Spent for the
Financial Year.
(in¥)

Amount Unspent (in )

Total Amount transferred to Unspent
CSR Account as per section 135(6).

Amount transferred to any fund specified under
Schedule VIl as per second proviso to section 135(5).

Amount.

Date of transfer.

Name of the
Fund

Amount.

Date of transfer.
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6,110,000 Nil

(f) Excess amount for set-off, if any:

SI. Particular Amount
No.
° (in ?)
(i) | Two percent of average net profit of the company as per section 135(5) 6,103,393
(ii) | Total amount spent for the Financial Year 6,110,000
(iii) | Excess amount spent for the financial year [(ii)-(i)] 6007
(iv) | Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of the previous financial years, Nil
if any
(v) | Amount available for set off in succeeding financial years [(iii)-(iv)] Nil
7) Details of Unspent Corporate Social Responsibility amount for the preceding three Financial Years — Nil
Sl.| Preceding Amount Balance Amount | Amount transferred to a fund as Amount Deficie
No. Financial transferred to | Amountin | spentin | specified under Schedule Vil as | remaining to | ncy, if
Year. Unspent CSR Unspent the per second proviso to subsection | be spent in any
Account under CSR Financial (5) of section 135, if any succeeding
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section 135 (6) | Account Year (in | Name of the |[Amount | Date of financial
(in%) under %). Fund (in¥). (transfer. | years. (in %)
subsection
(6) of
section 135
(in¥)

Nil

8) Whether any capital assets have been created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility amount spent
in the Financial Year:

O Yes X No

If Yes, enter the number of Capital assets created/ acquired

Furnish the details relating to such asset(s) so created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility amount spent in
the Financial Year:

SI. Short Short Date of | Amount Details of entity/ Authority/ beneficiary of the
No.| particulars of particulars of |creation| of CSR registered owner
the property or |the property or amount
asset(s) asset(s) spent
[including [including CSR Registration Number, if |[Name Registered
complete complete applicable address
address and address and
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location of the | location of the
property] property]

Not Applicable

9) Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two per cent of the average net profit as per section 135(5)
— Not Applicable

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited

Sd/- Sd/-

Mr. Kailash Kulkarni Dr. Indu Shahani
Chief Executive Officer & Whole Time Director Chairperson - CSR Committee

DIN: 07242982 DIN: 00112289
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Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members of HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
(“the Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024, and the Statement of Profit and
Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash
Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid
financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act") in the manner so
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India,
of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2024, and total comprehensive income (comprising of
profit and other comprehensive income), changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

3.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under Section 143(10)
of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act
and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

4. The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises

the information included in the Board’s report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements

5.

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Act with
respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position,
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting
principles generally accepted in India, including the Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the
Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the
provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds

Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP, Nesco IT Building I, 8th Floor, Nesco IT Park, Nesco Complex Gate No. 3 Western
Express Highway, Goregaon East, Mumbai - 400063

T: +91(22) 61198000. F: +91 (22) 61198799

Registered office and Head office: Sucheta Bhawan, 11A Vishnu DigambarMarg, New Delhi 110 002

PriceWaterhouse (a Partnership Firm) converted into PriceWaterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP (a Limited Liability Partnership with LLP identity no: LUPIN AAC-5001) with effect from July 25, 2014.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Report on Audit of the Financial Statements
Page 2 of 4

and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true
and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those Board of Directors are also responsible for
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

7.

9.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

. As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for
expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial controls with reference
to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

10. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of the Act, we give in the Annexure B a
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

11. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it
appears from our examination of those books, except that the backup of certain books of account and
other books and papers maintained in electronic mode has not been maintained on a daily basis on
servers physically located in India during the period April 1, 2023 to March 27, 2024 and the matters
stated in paragraph 11(h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors)
Rules, 2014 (as amended).

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income), the
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this Report are in
agreement with the books of account.

(d) Inour opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified under
Section 133 of the Act.

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2024 taken on
record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2024 from being
appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

(f) With respect to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith, reference is made
to our remarks in paragraph 11(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) and paragraph 11(h)(vi)
below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Rules.

(g) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of
the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure
A”.

(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us:

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its financial
statements — Refer Note 33 to the financial statements

ii. The Company was not required to recognise a provision as at March 31, 2024 under the applicable
law or accounting standards, as it does not have any material foreseeable losses on long-term
contracts. The Company did not have any derivative contracts as at March 31, 2024.

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company during the year ended March 31, 2024.

iv. (a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in the
notes to the accounts, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed
funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other
persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend
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or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the
Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the
Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(b) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in the
notes to the accounts, no funds have been received by the Company from any persons or entities,
including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in
writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in
other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate
Beneficiaries; and

(c)Based on such audit procedures that we considered reasonable and appropriate in the
circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the
representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material misstatement.

The Company has not declared or paid any dividend during the year.

Based on our examination, which included test checks, the Company has used three accounting
software for maintaining its books of account that have a feature of recording audit trail (edit log)
facility and that has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the
software except that the audit trail has not been enabled at the database level to log any direct data
changes in respect of two software. With respect to the third software which is hosted by third party
service providers, in the absence of the service organisation auditor’s controls report, we are unable
to comment whether, at the database level, the audit trail feature was enabled. During the course of
performing our procedures, other than the aforesaid instances of audit trail not maintained where
the question of our commenting does not arise, we did not notice any instance of the audit trail
feature being tampered with. (Refer Note 41 to the financial statements).

12. The provisions of Section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act are applicable only to public companies.
Accordingly, reporting under Section 197(16) of the Act is not applicable to the Company.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration Number:012754N/N500016

Ketan Asher

Partner

Membership Number: 113522

UDIN: 24113522BKFFMI2430
Place: Mumbai
Date: July 26, 2024
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Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to Financial Statements under
clause (i) of sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

1.

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of HSBC Asset
Management (India) Private Limited (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2024 in conjunction with our
audit of the financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

2.

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls
based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering
the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial
Controls Over Financial Reporting (“the Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (“ICAI”). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information,
as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

3.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference
to financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance
Note and the Standards on Auditing deemed to be prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act to the
extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of internal
financial controls and both issued by the ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements was established and
maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls system with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our
audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an
understanding of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system with reference to financial
statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements

6.

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements includes those policies
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and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements

7.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation
of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to
the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

8.

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system
with reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2024 , based on the internal control over financial
reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control
stated in the Guidance Note issued by ICAI.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration Number:012754N/N500016

Ketan Asher
Partner
Membership Number: 113522

UDIN: 24113522BKFFMI2430
Place: Mumbai
Date: July 26, 2024
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In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and furnished by the Company, and the books
of account and records examined by us during the course of our audit, and to the best of our knowledge
and belief, we report that:

i.

1i.

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

(@)

(b)

(a) (A) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative

details and situation, of Property, Plant and Equipment.
(B) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars of Intangible Assets.

The Property, Plant and Equipment of the Company have been physically verified by the
Management during the year and no material discrepancies have been noticed on such
verification. In our opinion, the frequency of verification is reasonable.

The Company does not own any immovable properties. Accordingly, reporting under clause
3(1)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of Use assets)
or intangible assets or both during the year. Consequently, the question of our commenting on
whether the revaluation is based on the valuation by a Registered Valuer, or specifying the
amount of change, if the change is 10% or more in the aggregate of the net carrying value of each
class of Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of Use assets) or intangible assets does
not arise.

Based on the information and explanations furnished to us, no proceedings have been initiated
on the Company for holding benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property
Transactions Act, 1988 (as amended in 2016) (formerly the Benami Transactions (Prohibition)
Act, 1988 (45 of 1988)) and Rules made thereunder, and therefore the question of our
commenting on whether the Company has appropriately disclosed the details in the financial
statements does not arise.

The Company is in the business of rendering services and, consequently, does not hold any
inventory. Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(ii)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

During the year, the Company has not been sanctioned working capital limits in excess of Rs. 5
crores, in aggregate from banks and financial institutions on the basis of security of current assets
and accordingly, the question of our commenting on whether the quarterly returns or statements
are in agreement with the unaudited books of account of the Company does not arise.

iii. (a) During the year, the Company has made investments in 5 Mutual Fund Schemes and 1 Alternative

iv.

(b)

Investment Fund. During the year, the Company has not granted secured/ unsecured
loans/advances in nature of loans, to companies / firms / Limited Liability Partnerships/ other
parties, or stood guarantee, or provided security to companies / firms / Limited Liability
Partnerships/ other parties. Therefore, the reporting under clause 3 (iii)(c), (iii)(d), (iii)(e) and
(iii)(f) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

In respect of the aforesaid investments, the terms and conditions under which such investments
were made are not prejudicial to the Company’s interest.

In our opinion, the Company has complied with the provisions of Section 186 of the Companies
Act, 2013 in respect of the investments made by it. The Company has not granted any loans or
provided any guarantees or security to the parties covered under Sections 185 and 186 of the Act
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and accordingly, the provisions of clause 3(iv) of the Order, to this extent, are not applicable to the
Company.

V. The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed to be deposits referred
in Sections 73, 74, 75 and 76 of the Act and the Rules framed there under.

Vi. The Central Government of India has not specified the maintenance of cost records under sub
section (1) of Section 148 of the Act for any of the services of the Company. Accordingly, reporting
under clause 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

vii. (a) In our opinion, the Company is generally regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues in
respect of provident fund and professional tax , though there has been a slight delay in a few cases,
and is regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues, including income tax, cess, goods and
services tax and other material statutory dues, as applicable, with the appropriate authorities.

(b) The particulars of statutory dues referred to in sub-clause (a) as at March 31, 2024 which have
not been deposited on account of a dispute, are as follows:

viii.

Name of the | Nature of | Amount | Period to which | Forum where the dispute is
statute dues (Rs.) (In | the amount | pending

Lakhs) relates
The Income Income Tax | 152 April 01, 2009 to | Commissioner of Income tax
Tax Act, 1961 March 31, 2010 (Appeals)
The Income Income Tax | 7 April 01, 2013 to | Assistant Commissioner of
Tax Act, 1961 March 31, 2014 Income tax
The Income | Income Tax | 11 April 01, 2019 to | Commissioner of Income tax
Tax Act, 1961 March 31, 2020
The Income Income Tax | 3 April 01, 2017 to | Commissioner of Income tax
Tax Act, 1961 March 31, 2018
Service Tax | Service Tax | 217 October, 2010 to | The Commissioner of Central
Law October, 2012 Excise (Appeals)
Service Tax | Service Tax | 193 April 2014 to | Customs, Excise and Service Tax
Law June 2017 Appellate Tribunal
Service Tax | Service Tax | 406 October 2009 to | Customs, Excise and Service Tax
Law November 2012 | Appellate Tribunal

There are no transactions previously unrecorded in the books of account that have been
surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax
Act, 1961.

ix. (a) Asthe Company did not have any loans or other borrowings from any lender during the year, the
reporting under clause 3(ix)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.
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(b) On the basis of our audit procedures, we report that the Company has not been declared Wilful

Defaulter by any bank or financial institution or government or any government authority.

(¢) The Company has not obtained any term loans. Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(ix)(c) of

the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(d) According to the information and explanations given to us, and the procedures performed by us,
and on an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, the Company has not
raised funds on short-term basis. Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(ix)(d) of the Order is not

applicable to the Company.

(e) On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, we report that the
Company has not taken any funds from any entity or person on account of or to meet the
obligations of its subsidiary. The Company did not have any joint ventures or associates during
the year. Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(ix)(e) of the Order, to this extent, is not applicable

to the Company.

(f) According to the information and explanations given to us and procedures performed by us, we
report that the Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in
its subsidiary. The Company did not have any joint ventures or associate companies during the
year. Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(ix)(f) of the Order, to this extent, is not applicable to

the Company.

X. (a) The Company has not raised any money by way of initial public offer or further public offer
(including debt instruments) during the year. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(x)(a) of

the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b) The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or fully or
partially or optionally convertible debentures during the year. Accordingly, the reporting under

clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xi. (a) During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried out in
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, we have neither come across
any instance of material fraud by the Company or on the Company, noticed or reported during

the year, nor have we been informed of any such case by the Management.

(b) During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried out in
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, a report under Section 143(12)
of the Act, in Form ADT-4, as prescribed under rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules,
2014 was not required to be filed with the Central Government. Accordingly, the reporting under

clause 3(xi)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(¢) During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company carried out in
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, the Company has received
whistle-blower complaints during the year, which have been considered by us for any bearing on
our audit and reporting under this clause. As explained by the management, there were two
complaints in respect of which investigations are ongoing as on the date of our report and our
consideration of the complaints having any bearing on our audit is based on the information

furnished to us by the management.

Xii. As the Company is not a Nidhi Company and the Nidhi Rules, 2014 are not applicable to it, the

reporting under clause 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.
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xiii.

The Company has entered into transactions with related parties in compliance with the
provisions of Section 188 of the Act. The details of related party transactions have been disclosed
in the financial statements as required under Indian Accounting Standard 24 “Related Party
Disclosures specified under Section 133 of the Act. Further, the Company is not required to
constitute an Audit Committee under Section 177 of the Act and accordingly, to this extent, the
reporting under clause 3(xiii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xiv. (a) In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature

of its business.

(b) The reports of the Internal Auditor for the period under audit have been considered by us.

In our opinion, the Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or
persons connected with them. Accordingly, the reporting on compliance with the provisions of
Section 192 of the Act under clause 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xvi. (a) The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India

Act, 1934. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xvi)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

(b) The Company has not conducted non-banking financial / housing finance activities during the

()

(d)

Xvil.

Xviil.

Xix.

year. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by the
Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

Based on the information and explanations provided by the management of the Company, the
HSBC Group (‘Group’) (as defined in the Core Investment Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions,
2016) does not have any CICs, which are part of the Group. We have not, however, separately
evaluated whether the information provided by the management is accurate and complete.

The Company has not incurred any cash losses in the financial year or in the immediately
preceding financial year.

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and accordingly the
reporting under clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable.

The Financial Ratios Prescribed under Division III of Schedule III of the Act are not applicable to
the Company. On the basis of ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and
payment of financial liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statements, our
knowledge of the Board of Directors and management plans and based on our examination of the
evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to
believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that the Company is
not capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due
within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an
assurance as to the future viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is based
on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance
that all liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date will get
discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.
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xx.  As at balance sheet date, the Company does not have any amount remaining unspent under
Section 135(5) of the Act. Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(xx) of the Order is not applicable.

xxi.  The reporting under clause 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable in respect of audit of Standalone
Financial Statements. Accordingly, no comment in respect of the said clause has been included in
this report.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration Number: 012754N / N500016

Ketan Asher
Partner
Membership Number: 113522

UDIN: 24113522BKFFMI2430
Place: Mumbai
Date: July 26, 2024



HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Particul Not As at As at
articulars otes March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
ASSETS
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 621 186
Trade receivables 4 8,627 5,960
Investments 5 39,334 28,103
Other financial assets 6 253 158
Subtotal 48,835 34,407
Non-Financial Assets
Current tax assets (Net) 7 2,093 1,510
Property, plant and equipment 8 2,028 1,848
Right-of-use assets 9 2,099 300
Goodwill 10 108,074 108,074
Other intangible assets 1 308,309 308,346
Other non-financial assets 12 4,558 4,481
Subtotal 427,161 424,559
Total Assets 475,996 458,966
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Trade payables
(i) Tota! outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 13 167 137
enterprises
(i) Totql outstanding dues of f:redltors other than micro 13 4483 2678
enterprises and small enterprises
Lease liabilities 9 2,152 315
Other financial liabilities 14 755 9,150
Subtotal 7,557 12,280
Non-Financial Liabilities
Current tax liabilities (Net) 15 1,701 515
Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 16 77,674 77,835
Provisions 17 1,490 1,434
Other non-financial liabilities 18 2,976 1,639
Subtotal 83,841 81,423
EQUITY
Equity share capital 19 34,441 34,441
Other equity 20 350,157 330,822
Subtotal 384,598 365,263
Total Liabilities and Equity 475,996 458,966
Material Accounting Policies 1&2
The above Balance sheet should be read in conjuction with the accompanying notes.
This is the Balance sheet referred to in our report of even date.
For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Firm Registration No: 012754N/N500016 HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Ketan Asher Dr. Indu Shahani Kailash Kulkarni
Partner Director Director & CEO
Membership No: 113522 DIN No: 00112289 DIN No: 07242982
Sneha Shetty
Company Secretary
ACS 32038
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai
Date: July 26, 2024 Date: July 08, 2024

PUBLIC




HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2024

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Particul Not For the year ended March | For the year ended March
articulars otes 31,2024 31,2023
Revenue from operations
Fees and commission Income 21 45,949 21,066
Net gain on fair value changes 22 4,664 672
Revenue from operations 50,613 21,738
Other income 23 519 317
Total Income 51,132 22,055
Expenses
Finance cost 24 80 15
Employee benefits expense 25 13,073 8,590
Depreciation and amortization expense 26 967 269
Others expenses 27 13,274 9,333
Total expenses 27,394 18,207
Profit before tax 23,738 3,848
Tax expense:
(a) Current tax 28.1 4,829 1,451
(b) Adjustment for current tax of prior periods 281 (240) -
(c) Deferred tax 28.2 (161) 1,015
4,428 2,466

Profit for the year 19,310 1,382
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of defined employee benefit plans 17 34 (18)
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or
loss 9) 5
Other comprehensive income 25 (13)
Total comprehensive income for the year 19,335 1,369
Earnings per equity share (Nominal value of Rs.10/- per share)
Basic & Diluted (in INR) 5.61 0.86

The above Statement of Profit and Loss should be read in conjuction with the accompanying notes.
This is the Statement of Profit and Loss referred to in our report of even date.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration No: 012754N/N500016

Ketan Asher
Partner
Membership No: 113522

Place: Mumbai
Date: July 26, 2024

PUBLIC

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited

Dr. Indu Shahani
Director
DIN No: 00112289

Sneha Shetty
Company Secretary
CS No: A32038

Place: Mumbai
Date: July 08, 2024

Kailash Kulkarni
Director & CEO
DIN No: 07242982




HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2024

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

For the year ended March| For the year ended March

Particulars Notes 31, 2024 31, 2023
A |Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before income tax 23,738 3,848
Adjustments for:
- (Profit) / Loss on disposal of property plant and equipment (Net) 23 1) 2)
- Unrealised (gain) / loss on forex fluctuation on trade receivables / payables (15) (23)
- Finance cost 24 80 15
- Depreciation and amortisation 26 967 269
- Remeasurment of defined benefit plans 17 34 (18)
- Loss on amalgamation 27 88 -
- Interest on Income tax refund 23 (486) -
- (Profit) / Loss on sale of investments (net) 22 (404) (901)
- Net (Gain) / Loss on fair value changes on FVTPL assets 22 (4,260) 229
Operating profit before working capital changes 19,741 3,417
Adjustments for changes in working capital
(Increase) / decrease in other financial assets 6 (95) (82)
(Increase) / decrease in other non financial assets 12 (69) (4,031)
(Increase) / decrease in trade receivables 4 (2,652) (3,597)
Increase / (decrease) in trade payables 13 1,829 60
Increase / (decrease) in other financial liabilities 14 155 95
Increase / (decrease) in other non financial liabilities 18 1,337 815
Increase / (decrease) in provisions 17 56 910
561 (5,830)
Cash generated from operations 20,302 (2,413)
Refunds Received/(Payment of taxes) (net) (2,538) (1,856)
Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities (A) 17,764 (4,269)
B |Cash flow from investing activities
- Purchase of investments (40,443) (31,367)
- Proceeds from sale of investments 23,490 40,996
- Purchase of property, plant & equipment 8 (748) (1,921)
- Sale of property, plant & equipment 8&23 1 -
- Purchase of other intangible assets 1 (25) (152)
- On account of business combinations 39(b) - (346,726)
- Cash balance of subsidiary on account of amalgamation 763 -
Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities (B) (16,962) (339,170)
C [Cash flow from financing activities
- Proceeds from issue of shares (Including securities premium) 19 & 20| - 343,631
- Share issue costs 20 - (36)
- Finance cost 24 (80) (15)
- Principal portion of lease liabilities (287) (16)
Net cash (used in) / generated from Financing activities (C) (367) 343,564
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 435 125
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 186 61
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 621 186

Non-cash investing activities
- Acquisition of Right-of-use assets 9 2,302 352

Components of cash and cash equivalents
In Current account with banks

- Balances with banks in current accounts 3 621 186
Total cash and cash equivalents 621 186

Note : The above Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared under the Indirect method as set out in Ind AS 7 on Statement of Cash Flows as prescribed
under section 133 of the act.

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjuction with the accompanying notes.

This is the Statement of Cash Flows referred to in our report of even date.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

Firm Registration No: 012754N/N500016 HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited

Ketan Asher Dr. Indu Shahani Kailash Kulkarni

Partner Director Director & CEO

Membership No: 113522 DIN No: 00112289 DIN No: 07242982
Sneha Shetty

Company Secretary
CS No: A32038

Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai
Date: July 26, 2024 Date: July 08, 2024

PUBLIC



HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited

Statement of Changes In Equity for the year ended March 31, 2024

a) Equity Share Capital

b

-

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Number of Shares Amount
As at March 31, 2022 61,590,908 6,159
Changes in equity share capital 282,824,092 28,282
As at March 31, 2023 344,415,000 34,441
Changes in equity share capital - -
As at March 31, 2024 344,415,000 34,441
Other Equity
Reserves and Surplus
Particulars Capital Securities Retained Earnings Total
Redemption Premium
Reserve
Balance as at March 31, 2022 900 157 13,083 14,140
Profit for the year - - 1,382 1,382
Other comprehensive income - - (13) (13)
Total Comprehensive Income for the year - - 1,369 1,369
Issue of equity shares, net of transaction costs - 315,313 - 315,313
Balance as at March 31, 2023 900 315,470 14,452 330,822
Profit for the year - - 19,310 19,310
Other Comprehensive Income - - 25 25
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 19,335 19,335
Issue of equity shares, net of transaction costs - - - -
Balance as at March 31, 2024 900 315,470 33,787 350,157

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjuction with the accompanying notes.

This is the Statement of Changes in Equity referred to in our report of even date.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP

Firm Registration No: 012754N/N500016

Ketan Asher
Partner
Membership No: 113522

Place: Mumbai
Date: July 26, 2024
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
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Dr. Indu Shahani
Director
DIN No: 00112289

Sneha Shetty
Company Secretary
CS No: A32038

Place: Mumbai
Date: July 08, 2024

Kailash Kulkarni
Director & CEO
DIN No: 07242982




HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 (Continued)

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Particulars

As at

March 31, 2024

As at

March 31, 2023

Balances with banks in current accounts*

621

186

Total

621

186

There are no repatriation restrictions with regard to cash and cash equivalent as at the end of the reporting period and prior period.
*Balances with banks in current accounts amounting to Rs 28 lakhs acquired through amalgamation of subsidiary company is in the process

of transfer in the name of the company.

Trade Receivables

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Trade receivables from contract with customers - billed 4,689 3,837
Trade receivables from contract with customers - unbilled * 1,070 469
Trade receivables from contract with customers - billed - related parties 1,722 1,093
Trade receivables from contract with customers - unbilled - related parties 1,244 659
Less: Impairment loss allowance (Refer note 30 b) (98) (98)

8,627 5,960
Break up of security details
Receivable considered good - unsecured 5,661 4,208
Less: Impairment loss allowance - -

5,661 4,208
Receivable - Credit Impaired 98 98
Less: Impairment loss allowance (Refer note 30 b) (98) (98)
Receivable considered good - unsecured - related parties 2,966 1,752
Less: Impairment loss allowance - -

2,966 1,752
Gross 8,725 6,058
Less: Impairment loss allowance (Refer note 30 b) (98) (98)
Total 8,627 5,960

A The receivable is 'unbilled' because the Company has not yet issued an invoice, the balance has been included under trade receivable (as
opposed to contract assets) because it is an unconditional right to consideration.

Ageing of Trade receivables as on March 31, 2024

Outstanding for following periods from the due date

Description Unbilled [ essthan 6]6 months to More than 3 Total
1-2 years 2-3 years
months 1 year years

Undisputed Trade Receivables

considered good 2,314 6,313 - - - - 8,627

which have significant increase in credit risk - - - - - - -

credit impaired - - - - - 98 98
Disputed Trade Receivables

considered good - - - - - - -

which have significant increase in credit risk - - - - - - -

credit impaired - - - - - - -
Gross 2,314 6,313 - - - 98 8,725
Less: Impairment loss allowance - - - - - (98) (98)
Total 2,314 6,313 - - - - 8,627
Ageing of Trade receivables as on March 31, 2023

Outstanding for following periods from the due date
Description Unbilled [ essthan 6]6 months to More than 3 Total
1-2 years 2-3 years
months 1 year years

Undisputed Trade Receivables

considered good 1,128 4,832 - - - - 5,960

which have significant increase in credit risk - - - - - - -

credit impaired - - - - 98 - 98
Disputed Trade Receivables

considered good - - - - - - -

which have significant increase in credit risk - - - - - - -

credit impaired - - - - - - -
Gross 1,128 4,832 - - 98 - 6,058
Less: Impairment loss allowance - - - (98) - (98)
Total 1,128 4,832 - - - - 5,960
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HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 (Continued)

Investments

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2024

As at
March 31, 2023

At Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Mutual funds units 38,248 17,269
Equity Instruments 451 450
Alternate Investment units 635 -
Total Gross 39,334 17,719
At Cost

Investment in Subsidiary (refer note 39(a)) - 10,384
Total - 10,384
(i) Investments outside India - -
(ii) Investments in India 39,334 28,103
Total 39,334 28,103
Less : Impairment loss allowance - -
Total Net 39,334 28,103

Other Financial Assets

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2024

As at
March 31, 2023

At Amortised Cost

Security Deposit 253 157
Staff Loans - 1
Total- Gross 253 158
Less:Impairment loss allowance - -
Total - Net 253 158
Secured by tangible t: - -
Secured by intangible assets - -
Covered by Bank/Government Guarantees - -
Unsecured 253 158
Total- Gross 253 158
Less: Impairment loss allowance - -
Total- Net 253 158
Loans in India
Public Sector - -
Others 253 158
Total- Gross 253 158
Less: Impairment loss allowance - -
Total Net 253 158
Loans outside India - -
Less: Impairment loss allowance - -
Total- Net - -
Total 253 158
Current tax assets (Net)

Particulars As at As at

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Advance Tax, Tax deducted at source, 2093 1510
[Net of provision for tax of Rs. 22,585 lakhs (March 31, 2023 Rs. 8,113 lakhs)] ’ ’
Total 2,093 1,510
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HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 (Continued)

U]

(ii)

Property, Plant and Equipment

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

. Furniture and Office Lease hold
Particulars Computers . . . Total
Fixtures Equipment improvement
Gross Block (At Cost)
As at March 31, 2022 332 - 25 - 357
Additions 1,866 34 21 - 1,921
Disposals (30) - (11) - (41)
As at March 31, 2023 2,168 34 35 - 2,237
Additions 90 15 - 643 748
Disposals (131) - - - (131)
As at March 31, 2024 2,127 49 35 643 2,854
Depreciation
As at March 31, 2022 193 - 20 - 213
Depreciation charge during the year 208 4 5 - 217
Disposals (30) - (11) - (41)
As at March 31, 2023 371 4 14 - 389
Depreciation charge during the year 475 8 6 79 568
Disposals (131) - - - (131)
As at March 31, 2024 715 12 20 79 826
Net Block
As at March 31, 2023 1,797 30 21 - 1,848
As at March 31, 2024 1,412 37 15 564 2,028
Right-of-use assets
Amount recognised in balance sheet
As at As at

Particulars

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

A.Gross carrying amount

Opening gross carrying amount 329 -
Add: Additions during the year 2,302 352
Less: Derecognised during the year (181) (23)
Closing gross carrying amount (A) 2,450 329
B. Accumulated depreciation
Opening accumulated depreciation 29 -
Add: Depreciation during the year 337 32
Less: Derecognised during the year (15) (3)
Closing accumulated depreciation (B) 351 29
Net carrying amount (A) - (B) 2,099 300
Lease Liabilities
. As at As at

Particulars March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
Lease Liabilities 2,152 315
Total 2,152 315

Additions during the year is INR 2,302 lakhs (Previous year Rs. 352 lakhs)
Total outflow during the year is INR 367 lakhs (Previous year Rs. 31 lakhs)

Amount recognised in statement of profit and loss

Finance Cost

For the year

For the year

Particulars ended March 31, | ended March 31,

2024 2023
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 80 15
Total 80 15

Depreciation and amortization expenses

For the year

For the year

Particulars ended March 31, | ended March 31,

2024 2023
Depreciation on Right-of-use assets 337 32
Total 337 32
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HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

10

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Net debt reconcilation

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
Cash and cash equivalents 621 186
Liquid investment 23,920 6,955
Lease Liabilities (2,152) (315)
Total 22,389 6,826
Particulars Cashandcash || . o |iabilities| . Liauid Total
equivalents investment
Net debt as at 1 April, 2022 61 - 16,489 16,550
New lease - (352) - (352)
Cash flow 125 31 (9,534) (9,378)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities - (15) - (15)
De-recognition of lease - 21 - 21
Net debt as at 31 March, 2023 186 (315) 6,955 6,826
New lease - (2,302) - (2,302)
Cash flow 435 367 16,965 17,767
Interest expenses on lease liabilities - (80) - (80)
De-recognition of lease - 178 - 178
Net debt as at 31 March, 2024 621 (2,152) 23,920 22,389

Short term lease

Particulars

For the year
ended March 31,
2024

For the year
ended March 31,
2023

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in other expenses)

920

646

Total

920

646

Goodwill

Particulars

Goodwill

Gross Block (At Cost)

As at March 31, 2022

Additions on account of business combination (refer note 39(b))

108,074

Disposals

As at March 31, 2023

108,074

Additions

Disposals

As at March 31, 2024

108,074

Amortisation

As at March 31, 2022

Amortisation during the year

Impairment loss

Disposals

As at March 31, 2023

Amortisation during the year

Impairment loss

Disposals

As at March 31, 2024

Net Block

As at March 31, 2023

108,074

As at March 31, 2024

108,074
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HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 (Continued)

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

11 Other intangible Assets

Particulars Computer Software Asset M.anagement Total
Rights

Gross Block (At Cost)
As at March 31, 2022 121 - 121
Additions 152 - 152
Additions on account of business combination (refer note 39(b)) - 308,200 308,200
Disposals - - -
As at March 31, 2023 273 308,200 308,473
Additions 25 - 25
Disposals - - -
As at March 31, 2024 298 308,200 308,498
Amortisation
As at March 31, 2022 107 - 107
Amortisation during the year 20 - 20
Disposals - - -
As at March 31, 2023 127 - 127
Amortisation during the year 62 - 62
Disposals - - -
As at March 31, 2024 189 - 189
Net Block
As at March 31, 2023 146 308,200 308,346
As at March 31, 2024 109 308,200 308,309

Intangible Impairment assessment disclosures

Asset Management Rights(AMR) is expected to contribute positively to the entity's cash flow generation over the long term. In absence of a foreseeable
period during which AMR is anticipated to generate net cash inflows for the company, AMR has been considered to have an indefinite life and is assessed for
impairment on a yearly basis. Asset Management Rights acquired through business combinations has been allocated to single cash—generating unit (CGU)
for impairment testing, as follows:

Significant Cash Generating Units (CGUs)
The entire company is considered as one CGU. The intangible assets - Asset Management Rights and Gooduwill - both have been fully allocated to this CGU.

Impairment testing of CGU:

Particular As at March 31,2024 | As at March 31, 2023
Carrying value of CGU 384,598 365,263
Recoverable amount of CGU # 532,030 419,866

# Note
(i) Recoverable amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal
(i) Valuation technique i.e. discounted cash flow projections has been used to measure fair value less costs of disposal.

Recoverable amount is determined using fair value less cost of disposal
Management has determined the recoverable amount of the CGU by assessing the fair value less cost of disposal (FVLCOD) of the underlying assets. The
valuation is considered to be Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used in the valuation. No impairment was identified.

Management's approach and the key assumptions used to determine the CGU’s FVLCOD were as follows:

Unobservable inputs Value assigned to key assumption
31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23 Approach to determining key assumption
Total expected revenue for 5 years (undiscounted) 375,543 253,817 Based on past performance, 5 years forecasts

prepared by the management and
management’s expectations of  market
development.

Terminal Value at the end of 5th Year 791,223 634,137 |Computed using Long-term growth rate on 5th
year of expected cashflow.

Post-tax discount rate (%) 15.10% 14.62% |Reflects the market risk free rate and premium
related to the specific risks.

Long-term growth rate (%) 8.00% 8.00% |Computed using weighted average growth rate

which is used to extrapolate cash flows beyond
the budget period. The rate is consistent with
forecast included in industry report.

The calculation of fair value less cost of disposal is most sensitive to expected cash-flows, post-tax discount rate and long term growth rate

The recoverable amount of the CGU is estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU at 31 March 2024 by Rs.147,432 lakhs (at 31 March 2023 by
Rs. 54,603 lakhs).

The recoverable amount of this CGU would equal its carrying amount if the key assumptions were to change as follows:

Key assumptions 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

From To From To
Post-tax discount rate (%) 15.10% 24.00% 14.62% 15.55%
Long-term growth rate (%) 8.00% 5.00% 8.00% 7.00%
Total expected revenue for 5 years including perpetuity 375,543 274,147 253,817 220,821
(Undiscounted)

The projections cover a period of five years, as the Company believes this to be the most appropriate timescale over which to review and consider annual
performances before applying a fixed terminal value multiple. The growth rates used to estimate cash flows for the first five years are based on the
Company’s five-year strategic plan.
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HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 (Continued)

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Other non-financial assets

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Advance to suppliers 66 23
Goods and Service tax (GST) / Cenvat Credit 429 464
GST payment under Protest 2,500 2,500
Prepayments 598 515
Other Receivables 176 169
Plan Assets (refer note 17-b)* 789 810
Total 4,558 4,481
* The L&T Employee Gratuity Welfare Trust acquired as part of business combination is in the process of getting transferred in the name of the
Company. Plan Assets as at 31 March, 2024 is net off Rs. 58 lakhs receivable from the Insurer.
Trade payables
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 167 137
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises - 1.428 553
Related Parties (refer note 37) '
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 3,055 2,125
Total 4,650 2,815
Ageing of Trade Payables as on March 31, 2024
Outstanding for following periods from the due date
Description Unbilled | Less than 1 More than 3 Total
1-2 years 2-3 years
year years

Undisputed trade payables

Micro enterprises and small enterprises 107 60 - - - 167

Others 3,399 1,078 6 4,483
Disputed trade payables -

Micro enterprises and small enterprises - - - - - -

Others - - - - - -
Total 3,506 1,138 6 - - 4,650
Ageing of Trade Payables as on March 31, 2023

Outstanding for following periods from the due date
Description Unbilled | Less than 1 More than 3 Total
1-2 years 2-3 years
year years

Undisputed trade payables

Micro enterprises and small enterprises - 137 - - - 137

Others 114 2,562 2 - - 2,678
Disputed trade payables -

Micro enterprises and small enterprises - - - - - -

Others - - - - - -
Total 114 2,699 2 - - 2,815

The below information as required under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED Act) has been determined to
the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of information received from suppliers regarding their status under the said Act as

available with the Company.

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2024

As at
March 31, 2023

Outstanding principal amount and interest due to suppliers registered under MSMED Act
and remaining unpaid at the year end:

- Principal amount

60

137

- Interest due thereon

Interest paid other than under section 16 of MSMED Act, to suppliers registered under
MSMED Act, beyond the appointed day during the period.

Interest paid under section 16 of MSMED Act, to suppliers registered under MSMED Act,
beyond the appointed day during the period.

Amount of the payment made to suppliers registered under MSMED Act, beyond the
appointed day during the period.

Amount of interest due and payable (where the principal has already been paid but
interest has not been paid).

The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year.

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in succeeding years, until
such date when the interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise, for
the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under section 23 of MSMED Act.
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(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

14 Other Financial Liabilities

15

1

17

a

b

o

)

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Employee benefits payable (including Restricted Share Plan) 637 492
Income Tax Refund Payable 96 96
Payable to Subsidiary (refer note 39(a) ) - 8,562
Other Financial Liabilities 22 -
Total 755 9,150
Current tax liabilities (Net)
As at As at

Particulars

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

Provision for Income Tax [Net of advance tax and Tax deducted at source Rs. 1,724 lakhs (March 31, 2023
Rs. 1,988 lakhs)] #

1,701

515

Total

1,701

515

Deferred tax liabilities (Net)

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2024

As at
March 31, 2023

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Depreciation/Amortisation (559) (7)
Provision for employee benefits (177) (165)
Bonus payable (153) (118)
Other (5) -

Lease liablity (13) (4)
Business combination 77,568 77,568
Fair value of financial instruments 1,013 561
Total 77,674 77,835

Note: For movement in deferred tax, refer note 28.2

The Company has concluded that the deferred tax assets will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable income based on approved business plans and
budgets for the Company as per the relevant dates above. The Company is expected to generate taxable income in future years.

Provisions

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2024

As at
March 31, 2023

Provision for employee benefits

Provision for Compensated absences 183 163
Provision for Gratuity (refer note b) below) 1,307 1,271
Total 1,490 1,434

The entire amount of the provision of compensated absences Rs. 183 lakhs (March 31, 2023 - Rs. 163 lakhs) is due within 12 months, since the Company
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations. However, based on past experience, the Company does not expect all
employees to avail the full amount of accrued leave or require payment for such leave within the next 12 months.

Defined contribution plans
The Company also has certain defined contribution plans. Contributions are made to provident fund for employees at the rate of 12% of basic salary as per
regulations. The contributions are made to registered provident fund administered by the government. The obligation of the Company is limited to the amount

contributed and it has no further contractual nor any constructive obligation. The expense recognised during the period towards defined contribution plan is Rs.
488 lakhs (March 31, 2023 - Rs.298 lakhs).

Defined benefit plans

Gratuity
Every employee is entitled to a benefit equivalent to 15 days salary last drawn for each completed year of service in line with the payment of Gratuity act, 1972.

The same is payable at the time of seperation from the Company or retirement, whichever is earlier. The benefit vest after 4 years and 190 days of continuous
service. The plan is partially funded.

PUBLIC



HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 (Continued)

(i

(ii)

(iii)

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and the unfunded status and

amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet for the respective plans:

As at March 31, 2024

Particulars Present value of Fair value of plan
L Net amount
obligation asset
Opening Balance 1,271 810 461
Current service cost 159 - 159
Interest cost/ Interest income 84 55 29
Total amount recognised in Profit and Loss 243 55 188
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest expense/(income) - 7 (7)
(Gain)/ Loss from change in demographic assumptions (13) - (13)
(Gain)/ Loss from change in financial assumptions 5 - 5
(Gain)/ Loss on account of experience changes (19) - (19)
Total amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (27) 7 (34)
Employer Contributions - - -
Benefit payments by company (122) - (122)
Benefit paid from plan assets (58) (58) -
Other - (25) 25
Closing Balance 1,307 789 518
As at March 31, 2023
Particulars Present value of Fair value of plan
A Net amount
obligation asset
Opening Balance 450 - 450
Current service cost 91 - 91
Interest cost 43 17 26
Total amount recognised in Profit and Loss 134 17 117
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest expense/(income) - 31 (31)
(Gain)/ Loss from change in demographic assumptions 50 - 50
(Gain)/ Loss from change in financial assumptions (103) - (103)
(Gain)/ Loss on account of experience changes 102 - 102
Total amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 49 31 18
Employer Contributions - - -
Benefit Payments (94) - (94)
Liabilities assumed/Asset acquired 732 762 (30)
Closing Balance 1,271 810 461
The net liability disclosed above relates to funded and unfunded plans as follows:
. As at As at
Particulars March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Present value of funded plan liabilities 861 781
Fair value of plan assets (789) (810)
Plan liability net of plan assets 72 (29)
Unfunded liabilities 447 490
Deficit before asset ceiling 519 461
Statement of Profit and Loss & Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended Year ended

Particulars

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

Employee benefit expense:

Current service cost 159 91
Total 159 91
Finance costs 29 26
Net impact on the profit before tax 188 117
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability:
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from Changes in financial assumption 5 (103)
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in demographic assumptions (13) 50
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes actual return on plan assets less interest on plan asset (7) (31)
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in experience (19) 102
Net impact on the other comprehensive income before tax (34) 18
Defined benefit plan assets
As at As as

Category of assets March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
- Insurer managed funds 789 810
Total 789 810
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HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 (Continued)

(iv)

(V]

(vi)

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Actuarial assumptions

With the objective of presenting the plan assets and plan liabilities of the defined benefits plans at their fair value on the balance sheet, assumptions under Ind

AS 19 are set by reference to market conditions at the valuation date.

. As at As at
Particulars
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Discount rate 7.00% 7.10%
Salary escalation rate* 7.00% 7.00%
* takes into account the inflation, seniority, promotions and other relevant factors.
Demographic assumptions
Retirement Age:
The employees of the Company are assumed to retire at the age of 60 years.
As at As at

Particulars

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

Mortality rate

Indian Assured Lives
Mortality (2006-08) Ult.

Indian Assured Lives
Mortality (2006-08) Ult.

Withdrawal rate

18%

11%

Disability:
Leaving service due to disability is included in the provision made for all causes of leaving service.

Sensitivity
As at March 31, 2024 Change.ln i Impact on defined ber!eflt obligation
assumption if rate Increase if rate Decrease
Discount rate 50bps (27) 28
Salary escalation rate 50bps (27) 28
As at March 31, 2023 Change.ln _ Impact on defined ber!eflt obligation
assumption if rate Increase if rate Decrease
Discount rate 50bps (37) 39
Salary escalation rate 50bps 39! (37)

The above sensitivity analysis are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and
changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions
the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been

applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet.

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the prior period.

(vii) Expected benefit payments for future years

The defined benefit obligations shall mature after year end as follows:

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2024

As at
March 31, 2023

1st following year
2nd following year
3rd following year
4th following year
5th following year
Sum of year 6th to 10th year

246
238
240
281
259
996

155
158
167
185
302
1,132

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 5 years (previous year - 7 years)

Expected employer contributions for the period ending March 31, 2025 is INR 245 lakhs

(viii) Risk Exposure

18

Salary Inflation risk : Higher than expected increases in salary will increase the defined benefit obligation.

Demographic risk : This is the risk of variability of results due to unsystematic nature of decrements that include mortality, withdrawal, disability and retirement.
The effect of these decrements on the defined benefit obligation is not straight forward and depends upon the combination of salary increase, discount rate and
vesting criteria. It is important not to overstate withdrawals because in the financial analysis the retirement benefit of a short career employee typically costs

less per year as compared to a long service employee.

Interest rate risk : The defined benefit obligation calculated uses a discount rate based on government bonds. If bond yields fall, the defined benefit obligation

will tend to increase

Other Non-Financial Liabilities

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Statutory dues payable 2,530 1,639
Other Non-Financial Liabilities 446 -
Total 2,976 1,639
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19 Equity Share capital

Authorised Equity Share Capital

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Number of Shares Amount
As at 31 March 2022 62,000,000 6,200
Increase during the year 4,438,000,000 443,800
As at 31 March 2023 4,500,000,000 450,000
# Increase during the year 551,257,920 55,126
As at 31 March 2024 5,051,257,920 505,126
Authorised Preference Share Capital

Particulars Number of Shares Amount
As at 31 March 2022 8,000,000 800
Increase during the year - -
As at 31 March 2023 8,000,000 800
# Increase during the year $ 675,300,000 90,300
As at 31 March 2024 683,300,000 91,100

# On account of approval of Scheme of Arrangement between HSBC Consultancy Services (India) Limited (formerly known as L&T
Investment Management Limited) and HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited and their respective shareholders by NCLT vide

order dated 13 October, 2023.

$ Includes 3,300,000 compulsory convertible preference shares of ¥ 100 each, 22,000,000 redeemable non-convertible preference shares
of ¥ 100 each and 650,000,000 non-convertible preference shares of ¥ 10 each.

Issued Equity Share Capital

Particulars Number of Shares Amount
As at 31 March 2022 61,590,908 6,159
# Rights issue during the year 326,431,802 32,643
As at 31 March 2023 388,022,710 38,802
Changes during the year (43,607,710) (4,361)
As at 31 March 2024 344,415,000 34,441
Subscribed and paid-up Equity Share Capital

Particulars Number of Shares Amount
As at 31 March 2022 61,590,908 6,159
## Rights issue during the year 282,824,092 28,282
As at 31 March 2023 344,415,000 34,441
Changes during the year - -
As at 31 March 2024 344,415,000 34,441

Reconciliation of number of Equity Shares

Equity Shares: As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023

Particulars Number of Equity Amount Number of Equity Amount
Shares Shares

Balance as at the beginning of the year 344,415,000 34,441 61,590,908 6,159

Add / less: Movement during the year - - 282,824,092 28,282

Balance as at the end of the year 344,415,000 34,441 344,415,000 34,441

Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to the Equity Shares
The Company has a single class of Equity Shares having a par value of Rs. 10 per share.

Equity Shares: The Company has one class of Equity Shares having a par value of Rs.10 per share. Each shareholder is eligible for one
vote per share held. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company after
distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their shareholding.

## Rights issue:

On 17 November 2022, the Company sent the Letter of Offer inviting its existing shareholders to subscribe to further issue by way of right
shares (‘issue’) for 32,64,31,802 equity shares at an issue price of INR 121.50 per share on the basis of 53 equity shares for every 10 fully
paid equity shares held in the Company, with such shares issued shall rank pari-passu with the existing equity shares of the Company. The
offer period for issue was opened on 22 November 2022 and 28,28,24,092 equity shares was subscribed by HSBC Securities and Capital
Markets (India) Private Limited (‘HSCI'). The offer period was closed and the allotment of 28,28,24,092 equity shares was done to HSCI on
23 November 2022. 4,36,07,710 equity shares were unsubscribed as at 31 March, 2023.

Unsubscribed shares during Rights issue got cancelled on 29 September, 2023.

PUBLIC




HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 (Continued)

20

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Shares held by Holding Company:

344,415,000 (previous year: 344,415,000) equity shares of Rs.10 each are held by HSBC Securities and Capital Market (India) Private
Limited, the Holding Company and its nominees.

Details of shareholders holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company:

344,415,000 (previous year: 344,415,000) equity shares of Rs.10 each are held by HSBC Securities and Capital Market (India) Private
Limited, the Holding Company and its nominees. Percentage of holding- March 31, 2024: 100% ; March 31, 2023: 100%. There has been
no change in Promoter's shareholding.

Details of shareholding of promoters

344,415,000 (previous year: 344,415,000) equity shares of Rs.10 each are held by HSBC Securities and Capital Market (India) Private
Limited, the Holding Company and its nominees. Percentage of holding- March 31, 2024: 100% ; March 31, 2023: 100%. There has been
no change in the promoter shareholding during the current year & previous year.

Other Equity
. As at As at
Particulars March 31,2024 | March 31, 2023
Securities Premium 315,470 315,470
Capital Redemption Reserve 900 900
Retained Earnings 33,787 14,452
Total 350,157 330,822
Securities Premium
. As at As at
Particulars March 31,2024 | March 31,2023
Opening balance 315,470 157
Rights issue - 315,349
Transaction costs arising on share issues - (36)
Closing balance 315,470 315,470
Capital Redemption Reserve
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Opening balance 900 900
Changes during the year - -
Closing balance 900 900
Retained Earnings
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Opening Balance 14,452 13,083
Add: Profit for the year 19,310 1,382
Items of other comprehensive income recognised directly in Retained Earnings
- Remeasurement of defined employee benefit plans, net of tax 25 (13)
Closing Balance 33,787 14,452

Nature and Purpose of Reserves
Securities Premium:

Securities Premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The reserve is utlised in accordance with the provisions of the

Companies Act, 2013.

Capital Redemption Reserve:

As per Companies Act, 2013, capital redemption reserve is created when company purchases its own shares out of the free reserves or
securities premium. A sum equal to the nominal value of the shares so purchased is transferred to capital redemption reserve (CRR). CRR
can be used only for the purpose of issuing bonus shares.

Retained earnings:
Retained earnings represents surplus/deficit of the Company and is available for distribution to the shareholders.
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23

24

25

26

Fees and commission Income

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

Management fees from

i) Mutual fund operations (net of GST) 40,870 16,629
ii) Portfolio Management Service (net of GST) 610 424
ii) Advisory Services 4,469 4,013
Total 45,949 21,066
Net gain on fair value changes

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at FVTPL

On Mutual fund 4,651 630
On Equity Instrument 1 42
On Alternate Investment units 12 -
Total 4,664 672
Fair value changes:

Realised 404 901
Unrealised 4,260 (229)
Total 4,664 672
Total 4,664 672

Other Income

For the year ended

For the year ended

Particulars March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Gain on account of foreign exchange fluctuations (net) 26 176
Interest on income tax refund 486 -
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (net) 1 2
Income from duty scrips - 139
Miscellaneous income 6 -
Total 519 317

Finance Cost

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

80

15

Total

80

15

Employee Benefits expense

For the year ended

For the year ended

Particulars March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Salaries, wages & bonus 11,843 7,875
Contribution to provident and other funds (refer note 17 a) 488 298
Gratuity (refer note 17 b) 188 117
Compensated absences 60 108
Share based payments (refer note 34 b) 10 10
Staff welfare expense 484 182
Total 13,073 8,590

Depreciation and amortization expense

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 568 217
Amortisation on other intangible asset 62 20
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 337 32
Total 967 269
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27 Other expenses
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Rent & utilities 1,349 660
Repairs and maintenance 2,083 1,482
Communication expenses 836 459
Director’s fees, allowances and expenses 21 20
Auditor’s fees (refer a) below) 48 53
Legal and professional charges 1,212 1,756
Insurance 402 219
Donation 10 -
Travelling and conveyance expenses 263 153
Brokerage and incentives 352 220
Compensation (refer b) below) 9 76
Scheme related expenses 3 1
Rates and taxes 688 311
Corporate social responsibility (CSR) expenses (refer ¢) below) 61 43
Support service charges 3,228 1,833
Business development charges 2,339 1,966
Recruitment cost 51 6
Membership and subscription - 9
Office administration 231 66
Loss on amalgamation (refer note 39(a)) 88 -
Total 13,274 9,333

a) Break up of Auditor's Remuneration

- For the year ended For the year ended

Payment to Auditor: March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
- Statutory audit 46 53
- Other services 2 -
- Reimbursement of expenses* 0 -
Total 48 53
* Below the rounding off norms adopted by the Company.

b) Compensation

The Company incurred Rs. 9 lakhs (March 31, 2023 Rs. 76 lakhs ) towards compensation paid by the Company to investors /

distributors on account of routine processing errors / delays.
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c) Contribution for corporate social responsibility (CSR)

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

i) Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year. Rs. 61 lakhs (Previous year Rs. 43 lakhs)
if) Amount approved by the Board to be spent during the year : Rs. 61 lakhs (Previous year Rs. 43 lakhs)
iii) HSBC Asset Managment India Private Limited has proposed to support United Way Mumbai and Cancer Patients Aid Association basis

guidance from CSR team of HSBC, India.

Disclosures in relation to corporate social responsibility expenditure:

Details of CSR Expenditure

For the year
ended March 31,
2024

For the year
ended March 31,
2023

Amount required to be spent as per Section 135 of the Act

61

43

i) Amount of expenditure incurred

Contribution to United Way of Mumbai

40

43

Contribution to Cancer Patient Aid Association

21

ii) Amount of cumulative shortfall at the end of the year

iii) Accrual towards unspent obligations (Shortfall) in relation to:

Ongoing project

Other than ongoing project

Total

61

43

Details of excess CSR expenditure under Section 135(5) of the Act:

Balance excess spent as at April 01, 2023

Amount
required to be
spent during the
year

Amount spent
during the year

Balance excess
spent as at
March 31, 2024

Details of CSR expenditure under Section 135(5) of the Act in respect of other than ongoing projects:

Balance unspent as at April 01, 2023

Amount
deposited in
Specified Fund
of Schedule VII
of the Act within
6 months

Amount
required to be
spent during the
year

Amount spent
during the year

Balance
unspent as at
March 31, 2024

61

61
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Details of ongoing CSR projects under Section 135(6) of the Act:

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Balance as at

Amount

Amount spent during the year

Balance as at

Balance excess spent as at April 01, 2022

required to be
spent during the
year

Amount spent
during the year

Balance excess
spent as at
March 31, 2023

Details of CSR expenditure under Section 135(5) of the Act in respect of other than ongoing projects:

Balance unspent as at April 01, 2022

Amount
deposited in
Specified Fund

Amount
required to be

Amount spent

Balance
unspent as at

of Schedule: V!I spent during the| during the year March 31, 2023
of the Act within year
6 months
- - 43 43 -

PUBLIC

April 01, 2023 required to be March 31, 2024

Financial Year . In Separate CSR q . From the From Separate . In Separate

With the spent during , With

Company Unspent the year Company’s CSR Unspent Company CSR Unspent

account Bank account account account
FY 23-24 - - - - - - -
FY 22-23 - - - - - - -
Details of excess CSR expenditure under Section 135(5) of the Act:
Amount
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28.1

28.2

Income tax expense

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Particulars

Income tax expense

Current tax on profits for the year

Adjustment for current tax of prior periods

MAT Credit (Prior period)

Total Current tax expense

Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences

Income tax expense

Other Comprehensive Income

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Current Tax

Deferred Tax

For the Year ended
March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
4,838 1,446
(240) -

4,598 1,446

(161) 1,015

4,437 2,461
9 (5)

4,589 1,451

(161) 1,015

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by company's tax rate:

The tax charge shown in the Statement of Profit and Loss differs from the tax charge that would apply if all profits had been charged at corporate tax rate. A
reconciliation between the tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by company’s tax rate for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 is as

follows:
Particulars For the Year ended
March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
Accounting profit before tax 23,738 3,848
At statutory income tax rate of 25.168%* (As at March 31, 2023 - 25.168%) 5,974 969
Tax effect of amounts which are no deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income
- Share based payments 3 3
- Corporate social responsibility (CSR) expenses 15 11
- Loss on amalgamation 22 -
- Donations 3 -
- Share acquisition related expenses - 349
Adjustment for current tax of prior periods (240) -
MAT credit written off - 825
Adjustment for deferred tax on account of amalgamation of subsidiary (762) -
Capital gain on sale of investment taxed at different rates 38 (43)
Deferred tax on account of different tax rates/change in tax rate (620) 347
Other 4 -
Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Profit and Loss 4,437 2,461
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (9) 5
Tax expense as per Profit and Loss Statement 4,428 2,466

* During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company has opted 22% income tax rate as per the provisions of Section 115BAA of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
The MAT provisions (section 115JAA) do not apply when company opts for section 115BAA, therefore the brought forward MAT credit has been written off in the

previous year.

Deferred tax

As at Movement in | On account of As at Movement in As at
Particulars Profit and Loss business Profit and Loss

March 31, 2022 | | opitf (Credit)] | combination | Mareh 312023 | popits (Credityy| Mareh 312024
Deferred tax Assets
MAT Credit 825 825 - - - -
Provision for employee benefits 152 (13) - 165 (12) 177
Bonus payable 64 (54) - 118 (35) 153
Depreciation/Amortisation 8 1 - 7 (552) 559
Others 105 105 - - (5) 5
Lease Liability - (4) - 4 (9) 13
Deferred tax Liabilities
Fair value of financial instruments through P&L [ (406) [ 155 | - (561)] 452] (1,013)
Asset Management Rights [ - - ] 77,568 | (77,568)] -] (77,568)
Net Deferred Tax [ 748 | 1,015 | 77,568 | (77,835)] (161)] (77,674)
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29 Fair value measurement
a) Financial Instruments by category

The significant accounting policies, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial
asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in sub-notes 8, 9,10 & 12 of note 1 to the financial statements.

As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023
Particulars Fair value Fair value Amortised Cost Fair value Fair value Amortised Cost
through profit or| through OCI cost through profit or| through OCI cost
loss loss
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents - - 621 - - - 186 -
Trade receivables - - 8,627 - - - 5,960 -
Investments:
- Mutual fund units 38,248 - - - 17,269 - - -
- Equity instruments 451 - - - 450 - - -
- Alternate Investment funds 635 - - - - - - -
Investment in subsidiary - - - - - - - 10,384
Other financial assets:
-Staff loans - - - - - - 1 -
-Security deposits - - 253 - - - 157 -
Total financial assets 39,334 - 9,501 - 17,719 - 6,304 10,384
Financial liabilities:
Trade payables - - 4,650 - - - 2,815 -
Other financial liabilities - - 755 - - - 9,150 -
Lease liabilities - - 2,152 - 315 -
Total financial liabilities - - 7,557 - - - 12,280 -
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b) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are (a) recognised and
measured at fair value and (b) measured at amortised cost and for which fair values are disclosed in the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Company has classified its financial instruments into the three levels
prescribed under the accounting standard. An explanation of each level follows underneath the table.

As at March 31, 2024

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value -
recurring fair value measurements

Financial assets

Financial Investments at FVTPL

- Mutual fund units 5 38,248 - - 38,248
- Equity Instruments 451 451
- Alternate Investment funds 5 635 - - 635
Total financial assets 38,883 - 451 39,334

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(¢)]
'
'

As at March 31, 2023
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value -
recurring fair value measurements

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets

Financial Investments at FVTPL
- Mutual fund units 5 17,269 - - 17,269
- Equity Instruments 5 - 450 450

Total financial assets 17,269 - 450 17,719

i) There are no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

ii) The Company's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting period.

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial assets by valuation technique:

The fair value of financial instruments are classified into three categories i.e. Level 1, 2 or 3 depending on the inputs used in the valuation
technique. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active market for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and
lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements).

The hierarchies used are as follows:

Level 1: Hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices. This includes investment in mutual fund units. The investment in
all the open ended mutual funds are valued at closing Net Asset Value (NAV)/ Market Price, which represents the repurchase price at which the
issuer will redeem the units from investors.These instruments are included in Level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the
use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. The instruments are
valued based on quoted prices for the similar instruments but for which significant observable adjustments are required to reflect the difference
between the instruments. Unlisted equity shares are classified under this category.

Fair Value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for the periods ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023:

Particulars U:C:Lsit&d Cor!tinge|:|t H?dgi_ng Inc.alemnifi- Total
Lo consideration derivatives cation asset
securities
As at 01 April, 2022 65 - - - 65
Acquisitions 343 - - - 343
Gain/(Losses) recognised in statement of Profit & Loss 42 - - - 42
As at 31 March, 2023 450 - - - 450
Acquisitions - - - - -
Gain/(Losses) recognised in statement of Profit & Loss 1 - - - 1
As at 31 March, 2024 451 - - - 451
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c) Valuation technique used to determine fair value

d

=)

e)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most
advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e., an exit price), regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using a valuation technique.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
The fair value of the closed ended mutual fund units is determined using obervable NAV at the reporting date as declared by the issuer.

Financial Instrument Valuation Technique

Unquoted Equity Instruments

Underlying Asset approach considered ultimate analysis to determined the fair value per

AMC Repo Clearing Limited equity share

MF Utilities Private Limited Discounted cash flow based on present value of the expected future economic benefit

and/or price of recent investment

The investment in AMC Repo Clearing Limited (ARCL) is valued at a Net Assets approach, The underlying asset approach values the underlying
assets of the business to determine the business value. This valuation method carries more weight with respect to companies which are in the
initial stages of starting operations. Also, asset value approaches are more relevant to the extent that a significant portion of the assets are of a
nature that could be liquidated readily if so desired.

The investment in Mutual Fund utility (MFU) participation shares (classified under FVTPL) entitles access to MFU a transaction aggregating portal
that enables free access to investors for NAV and other scheme related content across mutual funds. The Association of Mutual Funds in India
mandates this investment for all the asset management companies in proportion of their assets under management (AUM) to access MFU.

In order to assess Level 3 valuations as per Company’s investment policy, the management reviews the performance of the investee companies on
a regular basis by tracking their latest available financial statements/ financial information, valuation report of independent valuers, etc. which are
considered for the valuation process.

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements.

. Significant .
Particulars Fair value as at unobservable Impact on p;'o::tafter tax and
31-Mar24 | 31-Mar-23 inputs quity

Unquoted Equity Shares

AMC Repo Clearing Limited 416 415| Net assets value |Increase in net asset value by 1%
would increase the value by INR
4.16 lakhs and decrease in 1%
would decrease the value by INR
4.16 lakhs.

MF Utilities Private Limited 35 35| Risk adjusted |Discount rate of 12.71% is used to
discount rate |derive at the valuation. If the
discount rate increase by 1% would
lead to decrease in the fair value by
INR 1.25 lakhs and decrease in
discount rate by 1% would increase
in the fair value by INR 1.30 lakhs.

Valuation Process

The finance department of the Company includes the team that performs the valuation of financial assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value. The team reports directly to the Finance Head of the Company. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the valuation team and the senior management at least once every year which is in line with the Company’s Annual
reporting periods.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost

For financial assets and financial liabilities that have a short-term maturity (less than twelve months), the carrying amounts are a reasonable
approximation of their fair value. Such instruments include, cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, staff
loans and bank deposits without a specific maturity. Such amounts have been classified as Level 3 on the basis that no adjustments have been
made to the balances in the balance sheet.

PUBLIC




HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 (Continued)

30

a)

ii)

iii)

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)
Financial risk management

Introduction

Risk management is an integral part of the business practices of the Company. The framework of risk management concentrates
on formalising a system to deal with the most relevant risks, building on existing management practices, knowledge and
structures.the Company's senior management has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company's
risk management framework. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions and the Company's activities.

The financial instruments held by the Company expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. In
addition, the Company is indirectly exposed to market risk through management fee income which is determined by the assets
under management. the Company uses different methods such as sensitivity analysis to measure different types of risk to which it
is exposed.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect
the Company’s income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising returns.

Foreign exchange risk

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily through balances arising in the normal course of business (i.e. on
Trade Payables and Receivables) that are denominated in a currency other than the Company's functional currency. The sensivity
analysis of foreign currency receivables/payables is depicted below

Impact on profit after tax and

Particulars equity
March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
Rupees — Strengthen 1.50% (2023 — 1%) (19) (10)
Rupees — Weakens 1.50% (2023 — 1%) 19 10

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk where the Company is exposed to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of its financial
instruments will fluctuate as a result of a changes in market interest rates.

The Company does not have any variable rate borrowings. There are some investments in fixed rate debt securities measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk from investments held in units of the funds it manages. These funds invests in
equity and debt securities. In case of equity investments the units are fairly backed by equity price risk rather than credit risk. The
exposure to interest rate risk in case of units backed by debt securities is measured using sensitivity analysis as follows:

Impact on profit after tax and

Particulars equity
March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
Interest rate — Increase 1.85% (2023 — 0.5%) (399) (38)
Interest rate — Decrease 1.85% (2023 — 0.5%) 399 38

Price Risk
Price risk is the risk that the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss may fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices.

Sensitivity

The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the index on the Company’s equity and profit for the period.
The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity index had changed by 10.9% (2023 -8.7% ) with all other variables held
constant, and that all the Company’s investments moved in line with the index.

Impact on profit after tax and

Particulars equity
March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
NSE Nifty 50 — Increase 10.95% (2023 — 8.7%) 824 436
NSE Nifty 50 — Decrease 10.95% (2023 — 8.7%) (824) (436)

Profit for the period would increase/decrease as a result of gains/losses on investments classified as at fair value through profit or

loss.
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b) Credit Risk

c)

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from its investment transactions.

Credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis by the Company in accordance with policies and procedures in place. the Company is
exposed to credit risk from investments held in units of the funds it manages.These investments are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. the Company has no significant concentration of credit risk.

The Company's financial assets subject to the expected credit loss model under Ind AS 109 are cash and cash equivalents,
security deposits, trade receivables, staff loans etc.

Staff loans and receivables have been considered to enjoy the low credit risk as they meet the following criteria:

i) they have a low risk of default,

i) the counterparty is considered, in the short term, to have a strong capacity to meet its obligations in the near term, and

iii) the Company expects, in the longer term, that adverse changes in economic and business conditions might, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the counterparty to fulfil its obligations.

The Company has placed security deposit with lessors for premises leased by the Company at various locations in India as at
March 31, 2024 of Rs. 253 lakhs and March 31, 2023 of Rs. 157 lakhs. the Company does not perceive any significant decline in
credit risk of the lessors where the amount of security deposit is material and hence expected probability of default is considered
as zero.

Cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits are held with only high rated banks/financial institutions, credit risk on them is therefore
insignificant.

Reconciliation of loss allowance provision — Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

. Trade
Particulars Receivables
Loss allowance on Mar 31, 2022 98
Changes in loss allowance -
Loss allowance on Mar 31, 2023 98
Changes in loss allowance -
Loss allowance on Mar 31, 2024 98

The Company's exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised at the reporting date, as
summarised below:

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
Security Deposits 253 157
Staff loans - 1
Receivables 8,627 5,960
Cash and cash equivalents 621 186

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. Prudent liquidity risk
management implies maintaining sufficient cash and liquid investments. the Company believes that current cash and bank
balances, bank deposits and investments in liquid investments are sufficient to meet liquidity requirements since Company has no
material external borrowings. Accordingly, liquidity risk is perceived to be low. The following table shows the maturity analysis of
financial liabilities of the Company based on contractually agreed undiscounted cash flows and include estimated interest payment
and exclude the impact of netting agreement as at the balance sheet date:

As at Less than 3 | 3 months to 6 | 6 months to 1 |Between 1 and| 2 years and Total
March 31, 2024 months months year 2 years beyond
Trade payables 4,650 - - - - 4,650
Other financial liabilities 118 - 637 - - 755
Lease Liabilities 111 112 223 448 1,258 2,152
Total 4,879 112 860 448 1,258 7,557
As at Less than 3 | 3 months to 6 | 6 months to 1 |Between 1 and| 2 years and Total
March 31, 2023 months months year 2 years beyond
Trade payables 2,815 - - - - 2,815
Other financial liabilities 96 - 9,054 - - 9,150
Lease Liabilities 21 20 41 82 224 388
Total 2,932 20 9,095 82 224 12,353
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Capital Management

For the purpose of the Company's Capital Risk Management,"Capital" includes equity capital, securities premium and all other equity
reserves attributable to the shareholders. The Company’s objectives in managing its capital is to safeguard the ability to continue as a going
concern, and to optimise its return to its shareholders.

The management of the Company's capital position is undertaken by the management team of the Company. The management team
ensures that the Company is adequately capitalised to meet economic and regulatory requirements. The management team meets on a
regular basis and manages capital by taking into account key considerations which may include business developments, regulatory
requirements, profitability and market movements. The management monitors the return on capital as well as the level of dividends to the

shareholders. Please also refer Note 40 on Networth compliance.

Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled.

As at March 31, 2024

As at March 31, 2023

Particulars Within 12 After 12 Within 12 After 12
Total Total
months months months months

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 621 - 621 186 - 186
Receivables
(I) Trade receivables 8,627 - 8,627 5,960 - 5,960
Other financial assets - 253 253 158 - 158
Investments 23,920 15,414 39,334 6,955 21,148 28,103
Non-financial assets
Current tax assets (Net) - 2,093 2,093 - 1,510 1,510
Property, plant and equipment - 2,028 2,028 - 1,848 1,848
Right-of-use assets - 2,099 2,099 - 300 300
Other intangible assets - 308,309 308,309 - 308,346 308,346
Goodwill - 108,074 108,074 108,074 108,074
Other non-financial assets 1,269 3,289 4,558 1,171 3,310 4,481

Total assets 34,437 441,559 475,996 14,430 444,536 458,966

As at March 31, 2024

As at March 31, 2023

Particulars Within 12 After 12 Within 12 After 12
months months Total months months Total

Financial liabilities
Payables
(I) Trade payables

(i) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and

small enterprises 167 - 167 137 - 137

(ii) total outstanding dues of creditors other than

micro enterprises and small enterprises 4,483 - 4,483 2,678 - 2,678
Lease Liabilities 446 1,706 2,152 54 261 315
Other financial liabilities 755 - 755 9,150 - 9,150
Non-financial Liabilities
Current tax liabilities (Net) 1,701 - 1,701 515 - 515
Provisions 183 1,307 1,490 163 1,271 1,434
Deferred tax liabilities (Net) - 77,674 77,674 - 77,835 77,835
Other non-financial liabilities 2,976 - 2,976 1,639 - 1,639

Total liabilities 10,711 80,687 91,398 14,336 79,367 93,703
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33 Contingent Liabilities
a) Direct tax matters disputed by the Company are Rs. 754 lakhs (March 31, 2023 : Rs. 696 lakhs)
b) Indirect tax matters disputed by the Company are Rs. 860 lakhs (March 31, 2023 : Rs. 438 lakhs)

34 Employee share based payments

a) HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited - Employee share based payment scheme (equity settled):
Restricted share plan represents restricted stock award granted to select high potential employees. Shares are awarded through Restricted
Shares of HSBC Holdings Plc. At the end of the vesting period the shares awarded will be transferred to the employee provided the employee
continues to be in employment. These restricted shares have been awarded to the employees.

Set out below is a summary of shares granted under the plan:

Particulars

Year ended
March 31, 2024

Year ended
March 31, 2023

Number of shares

Number of shares

Outstanding at the beginning of period 9,522 11,406
Granted 765 4,128
Exercised - -
Released (4,100) (5,965)
Cancelled (154)

Forfeited (28) (47)
Outstanding at the end of period 6,005 9,522

b

Expense arising from share-based payment transactions

lotal expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised In protit or loss as part of employee benefit expense were as

follows:

Particulars

Year ended
March 31, 2024

Year ended
March 31, 2023

HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited - Employees share based payment
scheme (equity settled)

10

10

Total

10

10

3

(3]

Earnings per equity share

The computation of basic and diluted earnings per share is given below:-

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

Basic & Diluted earnings per share

Net profit / loss after tax available for equity shareholders (A) 19,310 1,382
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding for basic and diluted EPS (B) 344,415,000 161,547,916
Basic and Diluted earnings per share (A) / (B) 5.61 0.86
Nominal value per share 10 10

36 Investment in unconsolidated structured entities

The Company acts as the fund manager for HSBC Mutual Fund, and through its rights as a manager, has a significant involvement in
decision-making over the funds' operations and activities. However, fund managers are subject to substantial restrictions under local laws and
regulations including regulator's and trustees' oversight. the Company considers its decision making powers as a fund manager to be held in an
‘agent' capacity. The accounting framework provides guidance to apply the agency concept only while assessing whether the fund is a
subsidiary of the fund manager. Ind AS 28 does not provide guidance on how to apply the agency concept, while assessing significant
influence. Accordingly, the Company assesses significant influence over managed funds by considering rights, restrictions etc., as required by
Ind AS 28, but excluding decision-making powers held in its capacity as an 'agent' from such assessment, depending on facts and

circumstances of each case.

The company does not have any interest in unconsolidated structed entities during the FY 2023-24.
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Related party disclosures

As per Ind AS 24 on ‘Related Party Disclosure’, the releated parties are as follows:

Names of related parties and nature of relationship
Holding Company
HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India) Private Limited

Ultimate Holding Company
HSBC Holdings PLC

Fellow subsidiaries

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited - India Branches
HSBC Global Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited

HSBC Software Development (India) Private Limited

HSBC Electronic Data Processing (India) Private Limited

HSBC Global Asset Management Limited

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Hong Kong
HSBC Global Asset Management (Singapore) Limited

HSBC Group Management Services Limited

HSBC Global Services Limited

HSBC Global Services (Hong Kong) Limited

HSBC Electronic Data Processing (Philippines), Inc.

HSBC Global Services (UK) Limited

HSBC Trustees (India) Private Limited (w.e.f 09 January, 2024)

Subsidiary Company

HSBC Consultancy Services (India) Limited (upto 16 October, 2023)(refer note 39(a))

Key management personnel
Mr. Ravi Menon (CEO & Director) (resigned w.e.f 30 April, 2023)
Mr. Kailash Kulkarni (CEO & Director)

Mr. Dinesh Kumar Mittal (Non Executive Director) (resigned w.e.f 29 September, 2023)

Dr. Indu Shahani (Non Executive Director)
Mr. Kapil Seth (Non Executive Director) (appointed w.e.f. 20 September, 2023)

Mrs. Roopa Varma (Non Executive Director) (appointed w.e.f. 20 September, 2023)

Transactions during the year are as under:

. . with Ultimate with . with Key
Particulars with Holding Holding Subsidiary W|th.f¢?llo_w Management
company Subsidiaries

company company Personnel
Advisory fees - - - 4,469 -
- - - (4,013) -

Managerial Remuneration * - - - - 576

- - - - (465)

Director's Sitting Fees - - - - 21

- - - - (20)
Professional Fees and Expenses - - - 1 -
4) - - ©) -
Equity Infusion - - - - -
(343,631) - - - -
Support service charges - - - 1,797 -
- - - (1,310) -
Telephone, courier and postage - - - 5 -
Rent - - - 876 -
- - - (578) -
Repairs and maintenance - Computers 9 - - 537 -
(20) - - (469) -
Repairs and maintenance - Others - - - 0 -
Business Development Expenses - - - - -
- - - (3) -
Bank and Guarantee charges - - - 6 -
- - - (1) -
Staff Welfare - - - 4 -
- - - (21) -
Investment in Subsidiary - - - - -
- - (10,384) - -
Brokerage and incentives - - - 350 -
- - (220) -

Amounts in brackets represents amount relating to previous year

A The remuneration to the key managerial personnel does not include
incentives which are provided for group of employees on an overall basis.
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Key managerial remuneration compensation

(All amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated)

Particulars 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23
Short-term employee benefits 562 438
Post-employment benefits 14 17
Long-term employee benefits - -
Termination benefits - -
Employee share-based payment - 10
Total 576 465
Outstanding balances at the year end with related parties:
. . with Ultimate with . with Key
Particulars with “°"?'“9 Holding Subsidiary W|th.f¢?llo_w Management
companies : Subsidiaries
companies company Personnel
Assets
Advisory fees receivable
31-Mar-24 - - - 2,966 -
31-Mar-23 - - - 1,752 -
Deposit for premises
31-Mar-24 - - - - -
31-Mar-23 - - - 74 -
Balances with banks
31-Mar-24 - - - 589 -
31-Mar-23 - - - 179 -
Liabilities
Trade Payables
31-Mar-24 5 - - 1,421 -
31-Mar-23 2 - - 540 -
Payable to Ultimate Holding
31-Mar-24 - 36 - - -
31-Mar-23 - - - - -
Payable to Subsidiary
31-Mar-24 - - - - -
31-Mar-23 - - 8,562 - -
Payable to KMP
31-Mar-24 - - - - -
31-Mar-23 - - -
Rent & Utilities
31-Mar-24 - - - 2 -
31-Mar-23 - - - 10 -

Segment information

The Company is domiciled in India. the Company is engaged in business of providing asset management sevices, which is considered

to be only reportable segment (in accordance with Ind AS 108)

Segment revenue

The Company operates as a single segment. The segment revenue is measured in the same way as in the Statement of Profit and

Loss.

Particulars

Year ended
March 31, 2024

Year ended
March 31, 2023

Segment revenue

- India 50,613 21,738
- Outside India - -
Total 50,613 21,738

There is one customer (previous year - two customers) contributing in excess of

10% of the total revenue for the Company.

Segment assets and segment liabilities
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
Segment assets - India 475,996 458,966
Segment liabilities - India 91,398 93,703
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39(a) Current year- Amalgamation of subsidiary

Scheme of amalgamation of HSBC Consultancy Services (India) Limited (formerly known as L&T Investment management Limited) into
HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited and their respective Shareholders under Section 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, 2013
(the Scheme) —

The National Company Law Tribunal vide order dated 13 October 2023 has sanctioned the Scheme of Amalgamation of HSBC Consultancy
Services (India) Limited (formerly known as L&T Investment Management Limited) (“Transferor Company”), subsidiary of HSBC Asset
Management (India) Private Limited into HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited (“Transferee Company” or “the Company”), and their
respective shareholders under Section 230 to 232 of the Act. The Transferor Company was dissolved without winding-up and merger effected from
16 October 2023 upon filing of certified copy of NCLT Order dated 13 October 2023 in INC-28.

As per the para 5.3 of the Scheme approved by NCLT, on the date of last substantive approval (16 October 2023), the Company has recognized
the assets and liabilities of the Transferor Company at their respective carrying values and inter-company balances are eliminated. Further, the
carrying value of investment in the Transferor Company in the books of the Company is derecognized and the difference between the carrying
value of Transferor Company’s net assets acquired by the Company and carrying value of investments in Transferor Company has been
recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2024.

Details are as follows —

Particulars Amount in Lakhs
Carrying value of ts and liabilities of the Transferor Company
Cash and cash equivalents 757
Current tax assets (Net) 969
Receivables 15
Receivables from HSBC Asset Management (India) Private Limited* 8,561
Liabilities (6)
Net ts acquired by the Company (a) 10,296
Derecoghnition of the carrying value of investment (b) 10,384
Loss on amalgamation 88

* This has been eliminated against the payable to subsidiary in the books of the Company.

39(b) Previous year- Business Combination

Acquisition of HSBC Consultancy Services (India) Limited (formerly known as L&T Investment Management Limited)

On November 25, 2022, the Company acquired 100% shares of HSBC Consultancy Services (India) Limited (formerly known as L&T Investment
Management Limited ("LTIM")) post all necessary regulatory approvals were obtained. With this, the Company became 100% owner of LTIM. The
acquisition was made to increase the Company’s presence in asset management industry through inorganic growth.

The transaction was subject to approval of Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”). As a part of its approval, SEBI required LTIM to cease
acting as an asset management company and surrender its approval to act as an asset management company.

Immediately upon acquisition, with a view to maintain simple corporate structure, enable direct control over the undertaking of LTIM and eliminate
duplicative corporate procedures, the board of directors of the Company and LTIM approved the corporate merger of two entities to take place with
effect from appointed date (i.e start of business hours on November 25, 2022) as defined in the scheme of merger. The scheme of merger (“the
scheme”) was submitted by the Company for approval of Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal (Mumbai bench) (“NCLT”). NCLT heard the
merger application on August 24, 2023 and reserved the matter for pronouncement of order.

Further to run the mutual fund schemes operated by L&T Mutual fund, pending approval of the scheme of merger, LTIM undertaking was acquired
by the Company on a going concern basis through an agreement dated November 25, 2022.

Together all these transaction constitute “Business Combination” as per Ind AS 103.
Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Purchase consideration:

Particular Amount
Cash Consideration paid to selling shareholder of LTIM (A) 348,544
Consideration payable to LTIM for business transfer (B) 8,700
Total purchase consideration 357,244
The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition at acquisition date fair value:

Particular Amount
Cash 1,818
Plant and equipment -
Plan Asset (Net) 30
Investments in Mutual Funds 8,118
Indefinite-lived Intangible assets: Asset Management Rights -
Current tax assets* 1,684
Trade payables (1,812)
Deferred Tax Liability -
Net assets acquired excluding goodwill (C) 9,838
Goodwill (A-C) -
Total net assets acquired 9,838
Receivable by LTIM from the Company 8,700
Total purchase consideration 18,538

*Current tax assets were not transferred pursuant to agreement dated November 25, 2022.

The goodwill is attributable to the assembled workforce, distribution network and the high profitability of the acquired business and will not be
deductible for tax purposes.
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Revenue and profit contribution —
The acquired business contributed revenues and profits to the Company for the period 31 March 2023 as follows:

LTIM: Post acquisition, the schemes managed by LTIM and the Company were merged and accordingly the disclosure of post-acquisition revenue
and profit attributable to LTIM business is impracticable.

If the acquisitions had occurred on April 1, 2022, consolidated pro-forma revenue and profit for the year ended 31 March 2023 would have been
higher by Rs. 22,955 lakhs and Rs.9,938 lakhs respectively. These amounts have been calculated using the LTIM’s audited results for the period
April 01, 2022 till November 25, 2022 after adjusting for accounting policy differences and additional depreciation and amortisation based on fair
values of Property, plant and equipments and intangibles, if any.

Purchase consideration — cash outflow

Particular Amount
Outflow of cash to acquire business, net of cash acquired
Cash consideration 348,544
Less: Cash acquired during business combination 1,818
Net outflow of cash — investing activities 346,726

Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs of Rs. 1,391 lakhs that were not directly attributable to the issue of shares are included in other expenses in the statement
of profit and loss and in operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows.

Networth Compliance

As at 31 March, 2024

The net-worth of the Company as at March 31, 2024 is Rs. 44,357 lakhs. While computing the net-worth, the intangibles (Asset Management
Rights (AMR) recognized as part of the business combination) have been netted off with the associated deferred tax liability (DTL) of Rs. 77,568
lacs. The Company had made a detailed written representation to SEBI, to take cognizance of the net-worth computation of the Company as per
this approach including appropriate mitigation measures to be taken by the Company, if requested by SEBI, to meet the minimum net-worth
requirements vide its letter dated September 20, 2023. SEBI had taken our submission on record vide its letter dated September 26, 2023.

This approach has been followed by the Company for computation of net-worth while making quarterly net-worth related submissions to SEBI and
there have been no adverse comments from SEBI on these regulatory submissions. Further, based on the management assessment, the
Company does not expect any adverse regulatory action in this regard.

As at 31 March, 2023

The Company has recognised certain indefinite-lived intangible assets (asset management rights or AMR) as part of business combination as per
the principles of Ind AS 103, Business Combinations. This has resulted in recognition of deferred tax liability (DTL) of INR 77,568 lakhs in
accordance with Ind-AS 12 — Income taxes. The recognition of DTL has also led to an increase in goodwill by INR 77,568 lakhs to Rs. 108,074
lakhs. Also refer to business combination related disclosure in Note 39(b).

As per the definition of Networth under Regulation 2(qa) of SEBI (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 all intangible assets need to be deducted in
arriving at the Networth of the company for SEBI regulations purposes. Please refer table below for details of this computation.

The additional DTL recorded of INR 77,568 lakhs arises entirely as a result of the gross carrying value of AMR and is inseparably linked to it and
hence in Company’s view the intangibles should be netted off with associated DTL while calculating Networth as per the MF Regulations.

The Company has made a detailed written representation to SEBI, to take cognizance of the networth computation of the Company as per this
approach including appropriate mitigation measures to be taken by the Company, if requested by SEBI, to meet the minimum networth
requirements vide its letter dated September 20, 2023. SEBI has taken our submission on record vide its letter dated September 26 2023.

Computation of Net Worth per SEBI Regulations Amount in INR Lakhs
Paid Up Capital 34,441
Add: Free Reserves (excluding reserves created out of revaluation) 14,452
Add: Share premium account 315,470
Total (1) — Share Capital & Reserves as at 31 March 2023 364,363

Less: Miscellaneous expenditure to the extent not written off or adjusted or

deferred revenue expenditure

Less: Accumulated losses -

Less: Intangible assets
Asset Management Rights (308,200)
Goodwill (including incremental goodwill of INR 77,568 lakhs arising on

recognition of DTL on AMR described above) (108,074)
Total (2) — Deductions (416,274)
Networth as per the SEBI (Mutual Fund) Regulations (51,911)
Add: Incremental deferred tax liability adjusted based on submissions to SEBI 77,568
Adijusted Networth 25,657
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Additional Regulatory Information required by Schedule llI

Details of benami property held
No proceedings have been initiated on or are pending against the Company for holding benami property under the Benami Transactions
(Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and Rules made thereunder.

Borrowing secured against current assets
The Company does not have any borrowings from banks and financial institutions and hence the quarterly returns or statements of current assets
filing with the banks and financial institutions is not applicable.

Wilful Defaulter
The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institutions or government or any government authority.

Relationship with struck off Companies
The Company has no transactions with the companies struck off under the Companies Act, 2013 or Companies Act, 1956.

Compliance with number of layers of companies
The Company has complied with the number of layers prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013.

Compliance with approved scheme(s) of arrangements
The Company has not entered into any scheme of arrangement which has an accounting impact on current or previous financial year.

Utilisation of Borrowed funds and Share premium

The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with the
understanding that the Intermediary shall:

a. directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the group (Ultimate
Beneficiaries) or

b. provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the ultimate beneficiaries.

During current year, group has not received any funds from any person or entity, inclusing foreign entities (‘funding party') with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise that the group shall:

(i) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other person or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding party (Ultimate
Beneficiaries) or

(ii) provide anu guarantee, security or the like on behave of the ultimate beneficiaries.

During the previous year, on 17 November 2022, the Company sent the Letter of Offer inviting its existing shareholders to subscribe to further
issue by way of right shares (‘issue’) for 326,431,802 Equity Shares at an issue price of INR 121.50 per share on the basis of 53 equity shares for
every 10 fully paid equity shares held in the Company (Refer Note 19).

(i) The details of investment are as follows:

(a) Date of funds received November 23, 2022

(b) Amount Rs. 343,631

(c) Complete details of Funding Party
Name HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India) Private Limited
Address 52/60, Mahatma Gandhi Road, Fort, NA Mumbai MH 400001 IN
Relationship with AMIN Holding Company

(d) For details of further investment, refer to Note 39

(i) the Company has not provided any guarantee, security or the like, to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries

(iii) the Company has complied with relevant provisions of the Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 (42 of 1999) and the Companies Act,
2013 and are not in violation of Prevention of Money-Laundering Act, 2002 (15 of 2003).

Undisclosed Income
There is no income surrendered or disclosed as income during the current or previous year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act,
1961, that is required to be recorded in the books of account.

Details of cypto currency of virtual currency
The Company has not traded or invested in crypto currency or virtual currency during the current or previous year.

Valuation of Property Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets
The Company has not revalued its property, plant and equipment (including Right-of-use assetss) or intangible assets or both during the current or
previous year.

Title deeds of immovable properties not held in name of the Company
The Company does not have immovable properties hence this clause is not applicable.

Registration of charges or satisfaction with Registrar of Companies
There are no charges or satisfaction which are required to be registered with the Registrar of Companies.

Loans or advances to any key management personnel
The Company has not given any loan / advance to any key management personnel or its relatives.

Financial Ratios

The Company is in the business of providing Asset Management Services, financial ratios such as Capital to risk-weighted assets ratio (‘CRAR’)
and Liquidity Coverage Ratio are not applicable.
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(xv) Audit Trail
As per the definition of MCA, the Company has identified three applications which meet the definition of books of accounts. All these applications
have a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility. This has operated throughout the year for all transactions recorded in these applications.
At a database level the audit trail does not contain the pre-modified values i.e old value and new value of the changes made to the
masters/transactions. Access to in scope databases is controlled via privilege access management tool — “Total Privilege Access Management
Tool” (TPAM) and access is granted on need basis only which is controlled through the access management process of the Company. All activities
performed on databases are recorded through privilege session monitoring via IBM Guardium tool. In addition, while the backend update in this
database is not frequent, the Guardium logs capture the details around user who got the access, the query executed by the user and date of
execution. The Guardium logs are reviewed by a Central team and in case any discrepancies are noted then appropriate steps are initiated per the
policy and process of the company.
Based on the factors above, the Company has established and maintained an adequate internal control framework and based on its assessment,
believes that there is no impact of this on the financial statements as on March 31, 2024.
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